Faculty of Law

Restoring the Habitats Directive?

A legal analysis on how the proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation would address the current forest biodiversity protection in the EU

Karoliina Tuomainen

Master's thesis in the Joint Nordic Master's Programme in Environmental Law JUR-3920-1 May 2024



Abstract

Forests and their biodiversity are degrading both globally and in the EU. Although the EU is committed to reverse biodiversity loss, the EU legal system is facing the challenge of meeting both international and EU commitments. The current legislation protecting forest biodiversity is concentrated in the Habitats and Birds Directives. The Nature Restoration Regulation is a new development in the EU, which aims to contribute to the reversal of biodiversity loss. This thesis aims to analyse the current EU legal system protecting forest biodiversity and its weaknesses using the legal doctrinal method. Furthermore, the Nature Restoration Regulation is analysed in light of the weaknesses of the current legislation. Finally, this thesis aims to evaluate the added value the Nature Restoration Regulation would bring to the current EU legislation protecting forest biodiversity.

Table of contents

1	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	Background	1
	1.2	Purpose and Research Questions	4
	1.3	Methodology	5
	1.4	Limitations and definitions	7
	1.5	Structure	8
2	The	current protection of forests	9
	2.1	The EU competence	9
	2.2	The Habitats Directive	10
	2.2.	The objectives of the Habitats Directive	10
	2.2.	2 Area protection through the Natura 2000 network	10
	2.2.	3 Species protection	13
	2.2.	Forest protection outside the Natura 2000 sites	15
	2.3	The Birds Directive	16
	2.4	Species can indirectly protect forests	17
3	The	weaknesses of the current EU legislation protecting forest biodiversity	19
	3.1	Obligations outside the Natura 2000 sites are weak	19
	3.2	The Annex-based system creates limitations	21
	3.2.	1 Limited coverage of protected habitat types	21
	3.2.	2 Primary and old-growth forests are not mentioned	22
	3.3	No target deadlines for objectives, no incentive to achieve	25
	3.4	Conclusions on the weaknesses	27
4	The	Nature Restoration Regulation	28
	4.1	Introducing the Nature Restoration Regulation	28

	4.1.	Purpose of the Nature Restoration Regulation
	4.1.2	2 General obligations
	4.1.3	Non-deterioration
	4.1.4	4 Forests and restoration
	4.2	Change in comparison to the current legal system
	4.2.	Measures outside Natura 2000 are left to the Member States' discretion 37
	4.2.2	2 A mixed approach to the Annex-based system
	4.2.3	3 Deadlines for the objectives
	4.3	Addressing weaknesses
5	Eval	luation45
	5.1	Turning the focus to restoration
	5.2	Going beyond the protected areas
	5.3	Primary and old-growth forests do not gain value
	5.4	Deadlines could aid the Habitats Directive
	5.5	Added value to forest biodiversity protection
6	Con	nclusion
В	ibliogra	aphy54

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Biodiversity in forests is degrading rapidly.¹ The problem of biodiversity loss is multifaceted, with direct and indirect causes.² Forests are under pressure from various sources, including climate change, land use change, and overexploitation.³ Around the world communities depend 'on forest biodiversity for their lives and livelihoods'.⁴ Although the European Union (EU) has set legislation and policies for biodiversity protection, the current legal system is not on track to meet the international targets for biodiversity.⁵ Not having met the EU 2020 targets on biodiversity either, the EU legal system faces the challenge of getting back on track to avert biodiversity loss in forests.⁶ What makes forests essential for biodiversity targets is that 'many forests are more biodiverse than other ecosystems'.⁷ For example, primary and old-growth forests, which are forests with absent or minimal human activity, have exceptional values in biodiversity conservation through a greater number of species present in these forests in comparison to degraded forests.⁸ The focus of this thesis is thus on forests. The

_

¹ Bart Muys and others, *Forest Biodiversity in Europe. From Science to Policy 13* (European Forest Institute 2022) 20. Biological diversity (biodiversity) is defined in the United Nation's Convention on Biological Diversity as 'the variability among living organisms from all sources including, inter alia, terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems'. (Convention on Biological Diversity, 5 June 1992, 1760 UNTS 79 (entered into force 29 December 1993) Art 2.)

² S Díaz and others (eds), Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES 2019) xvi.

³ Díaz and others (eds) (n 2); FAO and UNEP, *The State of the World's Forests 2020. Forests, biodiversity and people* (FAO 2020) 82.

⁴ FAO and UNEP (n 3) 2.

⁵ Daniel Hering and others, 'Securing success for the Nature Restoration Law' (2023) 382 Science 1248, 1248.

⁶ European Environment Agency, *State of nature in the EU: Results from reporting under the nature directives 2013-2018* (Publications Office of the European Union 2020) 128, 135.

⁷ FAO and UNEP (n 3) 10.

⁸ James E M Watson and others, 'The exceptional value of intact forest ecosystems' (2018) 2 Nature Ecology & Evolution 599, 601; Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: Commission Guidelines for Defining, Mapping, Monitoring and Strictly Protecting EU Primary and Old-Growth Forests' SWD (2023) 62 final, 6-7.

legal system is at the centre of biodiversity and forest protection as it simultaneously enables the over-consumption of natural resources but can at the same time safeguard biodiversity.

Internationally, the EU is a party to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). ¹⁰ Thus, the 2030 and 2050 goals on biodiversity in the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the CBD apply to the EU. ¹¹ The Framework sets out that 'by 2030 at least 30 per cent of areas of degraded terrestrial, inland water, and marine and coastal ecosystems are under effective restoration'. ¹² Additionally, 'by 2030 at least 30 percent of terrestrial [...] areas [...] are effectively conserved and managed through ecologically representative, well-connected and equitably governed systems of protected areas and other effective area-based conservation measures'. ¹³ For 2050, the goal is to have all ecosystems 'maintained, enhanced or restored, substantially increasing the area of natural ecosystems by 2050'. ¹⁴

Additional international goals can be found in the United Nations (UN) 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, which established the Sustainable Development Goals. ¹⁵ Goal 15 of the Agenda is to 'Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, [...] and halt biodiversity loss'. ¹⁶ The conservation and restoration of forests was already a goal for 2020. ¹⁷ Although the EU is not a party to the UN

accessed 8 February 2024.

⁹ Minna Pappila and Niko Soininen, 'Ennallistaminen oikeudellisena velvoitteena – luontokadon hillinnän valloittamaton rintama Suomen ympäristöoikeudessa' (2023) 4 Ympäristöjuridiikka 23, 24. ¹⁰ 'List of Parties' (*Convention on Biological Diversity*) https://www.cbd.int/information/parties.shtml

¹¹ COP CBD, 'Decision adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity 15/4. Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework' (Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework) DEC 15/4 (2022).

¹² ibid, Annex, Section H, Target 2.

¹³ ibid, Annex, Section H, Target 3.

¹⁴ ibid, Annex, Section G, Goal A.

¹⁵ United Nations General Assembly, 'Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 25 September 2015. Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development' United Nations General Assembly, 25 September 2015 A/RES/70/1.

¹⁶ ibid, Goal 15.

¹⁷ ibid, 15.1.

but an observer, ¹⁸ the European Commission has voiced its commitment to the 2030 Agenda. ¹⁹

Similarly to these international goals, the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030, which was created before the Kunming-Montreal Framework, sets out the commitment to '[l]egally protect a minimum of 30% of the EU's land area' among others.²⁰ Another commitment in the Strategy is to '[s]tricly protect at least a third of the EU's protected areas, including all remaining EU primary and old-growth forests'.²¹ The EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 does not set a separate 2050 goal but commits to ensuring that the international goal for 2050 is to restore and adequately protect all ecosystems in the world.²²

In the EU legal system, the core of biodiversity protection is the Natura 2000 network. Established by the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive, the Natura 2000 network consists of special areas of conservation (SACs) and special protection areas (SPAs), which aim to conserve ecologically special areas. Forest habitat types requiring a special area of conservation are listed in Annex I of the Habitats Directive. These areas are a direct method of protecting forests. Additionally, the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive provide biodiversity protection through the protection of species. Even though the Habitats Directive is at the heart of the EU legal system, it has its weaknesses.

⁻

¹⁸ 'Intergovernmental and Other Organizations' (*United Nations*) https://www.un.org/en/about-us/intergovernmental-and-other-organizations> accessed 22 May 2024.

¹⁹ Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: Delivering on the UN's Sustainable Development Goals – A comprehensive approach' SWD (2020) 400 final, 1.

²⁰ Commission, 'Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030, Bringing nature back into our lives' (EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030) COM (2020) 380 final, 5.

²¹ ibid.

²² ibid, 19.

²³ Commission, 'Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council and the European Economic and Social Committee: The state of nature in the European Union, Report on the status and trends in 2013 – 2018 of species and habitat types protected by the Birds and Habitats Directives' COM (2020) 635 final, 1.

²⁴ Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (the Habitats Directive) [1992] OJ L206/7, Art 3; Codified version of the Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November 2009 on the conservation of wild birds (the Birds Directive) [2019] OJ L20/7, Art 4.

²⁵ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Annex I, s 9.

A recent development in EU law is the Nature Restoration Regulation. The EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 recognised the need for restoration in the process of fighting biodiversity loss. 26 Thus, the Strategy established that the Commission would propose legally binding nature restoration targets. 27 The Commission adopted a proposal for a regulation on nature restoration in June 2022. 28 After the European Parliament adopted amendments to the proposal in 2023, a legislative resolution on the proposal was adopted by the European Parliament in February 2024 at the first reading. 29 At the time of writing, the Regulation is waiting for the Council's decision before it can enter into force. 30 According to the Commission, 'The proposal aims to complement existing environmental policy.' 31 Furthermore, according to the explanatory memorandum to the proposal, it 'will improve forest biodiversity and resilience' through its restoration measures. 32 Although the Regulation is not yet in force, this thesis will address the 2024 resolution on the proposal as the Nature Restoration Regulation to differentiate the discussion from the original 2022 proposal and the 2023 Parliamentary amendments. This thesis will look at the Nature Restoration Regulation from a forest protection perspective together with the current EU legal system.

1.2 Purpose and Research Questions

The purpose of this thesis is to analyse the EU legal system protecting forest biodiversity within the context of the EU's commitments to forest biodiversity.³³ Furthermore, this thesis

²⁶ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 6.

²⁷ ibid 6, 14.

²⁸ Commission, 'Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on nature restoration' COM (2022) 304 final.

²⁹ European Parliament, 'Amendments adopted by the European Parliament on 12 July 2023 on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on nature restoration COM (2022) 304' Parliament (2023) 277; European Parliament, 'Nature Restoration: European Parliament legislative resolution of 27 February 2024 on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on nature restoration' (Nature Restoration Regulation 2024) Parliament (2024) 89. ³⁰ European Parliament, 'Procedure File 2022/0195(COD)' (*Legislative Observatory: European Parliament*)

https://oeil.secure.europarl.europa.eu/oeil/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2022/0195(COD)&len">https://oeil.secure.europarl.europa.eu/oeil/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2022/0195(COD)&len">https://oeil.secure.europarl.europa.eu/oeil/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2022/0195(COD)&len">https://oeil.secure.europarl.europa.eu/oeil/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2022/0195(COD)&len">https://oeil.secure.europarl.europa.eu/oeil/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2022/0195(COD)&len">https://oeil.secure.europarl.europa.eu/oeil/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2022/0195(COD)&len">https://oeil.secure.europarl.europa.eu/oeil/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2022/0195(COD)&len">https://oeil.secure.europarl.europa.europ

³¹ Commission (2022) (n 28) Explanatory Memorandum, 4.

³² ibid.

³³ The Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) has defined forest biological diversity as referring 'to all life forms found within forested areas and the ecological roles they perform. As such, forest biological diversity encompasses not just trees, but the multitude of plants, animals

aims to analyse how the Nature Restoration Regulation would address the weaknesses of the current system. It is important to examine the added value the Nature Restoration Regulation would bring to the EU legislation as little legal research on the 2024 version of the proposal exists. To accomplish this, the research questions this thesis asks and answers are:

- 1. How does the current EU legal system protect forest biodiversity?
- 2. What are the weaknesses of the current EU legal system protecting forest biodiversity in the EU?
- 3. How does the proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation address the weaknesses of the current EU legislation protecting forest biodiversity?
- 4. How would the proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation add value to the current EU legislation protecting forest biodiversity in the EU?

1.3 Methodology

The methodology used in this thesis is the legal doctrinal methodology. Following this, to answer the first research question, the current EU law on the protection of forest biodiversity will be described. The sources used to describe and analyse the current EU law can be divided into legislative sources, case law, and literature. The Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive are the main legislative sources. Furthermore, policy documents such as the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 and the EU Forest Strategy 2030 and the relevant case law interpreting the legislation are used.³⁴ The literature for analysing the current EU law can be divided into legal and scientific sources. The legal literature sources used include articles from Kokko and Hoek, who have examined the current legislation and its weaknesses in light of the original proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation from a more general perspective. As for scientific literature, articles from Sabatini and others as well as reports

⁻

and microorganisms that inhabit forest areas and their associated genetic diversity'. (FAO and UNEP, *The State of the World's Forests 2020. Forests, biodiversity and people* (FAO 2020) 3.) ³⁴ Commission, 'Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: New EU Forest Strategy for 2030' (EU Forest Strategy 2030) COM (2021) 572 final.

from the European Environmental Agency and the European Forest Institute are examples of sources used for the analysis.

To answer the second research question, the weaknesses of the EU legal system are identified in light of the objectives and purpose of the current legislation thus following the general rule of interpretation for treaties.³⁵ Under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, the general rule of interpretation establishes that treaty interpretation is to be 'in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the treaty in their context and in light of its object and purpose'.³⁶ For the analysis of the weaknesses of the current EU legal system, the reference points used for the analysis are the targets set in the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 and in the international agreements the EU is a party to. Together with the academic literature, these facilitate the analysis of the weaknesses of the current EU legal system protecting forest biodiversity.

For the 2024 Nature Restoration Regulation, the discussion refers to the current EU legislation as well as the 2022 Commission proposal and the 2023 Parliamentary amendments. The current EU legislation is the point of referral when answering the third research question as the Nature Restoration Regulation is compared to the current system. Due to the Nature Restoration Regulation not having entered into force at the time of writing, no wide array of academic literature on the Regulation and especially on its relation to biodiversity and forests exists. The existing literature has focused either on the 2022 Commission proposal or the 2023 amendments made by the European Parliament.

Nevertheless, articles by Hoek as well as Pappila and Soininen are key sources for the discussion. Academic literature on the newest version from 2024 has not yet been published. Therefore, the other sources primarily used for the analysis of the Regulation are the different versions of the proposal itself. Furthermore, the preamble of the Nature Restoration Regulation is used for its interpretation following the general rule of interpretation. For the fourth research question, the analysis of the current EU legislation and the Nature Restoration

⁻

³⁵ Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties 1969, 23 May 1969, 1155 UNTS 331 (entered into force 27 January 1980) Art 31(1).

³⁶ ibid.

³⁷ ibid, Art 31(2).

Regulation are combined to evaluate the added value the Regulation would bring to the current EU legislation.

1.4 Limitations and definitions

There are multiple reasons for forest biodiversity loss. ³⁸ Consequently, the EU has adopted several legislative acts which can aid in reducing forest biodiversity loss by addressing the different reasons behind it with regulation. ³⁹ However, this thesis will only look at the two Nature Directives, the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive as well as the proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation and their relation to forest biodiversity. The main analysis has been limited to the weaknesses of the current legal system in the Habitats Directive and how the Nature Restoration Regulation would address these. The Habitats Directive is the focus of the weaknesses due to it being designed to protect forests. The Nature Restoration Regulation includes provisions concerning the restoration of multiple different areas and ecosystems. Several of these provisions have been excluded from the discussion due to their irrelevance to forests.

To have a full understanding of the terms used in this thesis, conservation, restoration, and protection should be defined. Conservation can be defined to include a duty 'to maintain natural sites which are (still) present'. Restoration instead 'means the process of actively or passively assisting the recovery of an ecosystem in order to improve its structure and

⁻

³⁸ See Ch 1.1.

³⁹ See for example Regulation (EU) 2023/1115 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 31 May 2023 on the making available on the Union market and the export from the Union of certain commodities and products associated with deforestation and forest degradation and repealing Regulation (EU) No 995/2010 [2023] OJ L150/206; Regulation (EU) 2018/841 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 on the inclusion of greenhouse gas emissions and removals from land use, land use change and forestry in the 2030 climate and energy framework, and amending Regulation (EU) No 525/2013 and Decision No 529/2013/EU [2018] OJ L156/1.

⁴⁰ Niels Hoek, 'A Critical Analysis of the Proposed EU Regulation on Nature Restoration: Have the Problems Been Resolved?' [2022] European Energy and Environmental Law Review 320, 321 citing Eric Higgs, *Nature by Design: People, Natural Process, and Ecological Restoration* 108 (MITT PRESS 2003).

functions, with the aim of conserving or enhancing biodiversity and ecosystem resilience'. ⁴¹ Protection is defined as the 'preservation from harm, danger [or] damage'. ⁴²

1.5 Structure

The structure of the thesis is as follows. Chapter 2 will set out the current EU law relating to the protection of forest biodiversity. Chapter 3 will move on to analyse the weaknesses of the current EU legal system protecting forest biodiversity. Following this, Chapter 4 will describe the Nature Restoration Regulation and analyse it from the forest biodiversity perspective on how the Regulation addresses the weaknesses of the current EU legislation. In Chapter 5, the added value of the Nature Restoration Regulation to the current EU legislation will be evaluated. Finally, Chapter 6 will conclude the thesis by bringing in the findings.

_

⁴¹ The Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 3(3).

⁴² Oxford English Dictionary, 'protection' (OUP) https://www.oed.com/dictionary/protection_n accessed 29 April 2024.

2 The current protection of forests

2.1 The EU competence

This Chapter will describe the current EU law protecting forest biodiversity. Describing the relevant legal framework will enable a more in-depth discussion later. This Chapter will begin by setting out the legal basis for the EU's competence on the environment and forestry under the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. After that, the Chapter will move on to secondary EU legislation, namely the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive. They will be described to explain how the current EU law addresses the protection of forest biodiversity. The species protection in the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive is discussed to further show the differences in the protection provided for forests and species.

The EU and its Member States share the competence on matters about the environment. However, the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union is silent on the competence regarding forestry. Une to this, there is no common forestry policy in the EU. EU policies can nevertheless have an impact on forestry, for example through the EU Forest Strategy 2030, as well as through the Nature Directives; the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive, which will be described later. The overarching aim of the EU environmental policy is a high level of protection. Relevantly to the protection of biodiversity in forests, the EU environmental policy is to contribute to the preservation, protection, and improvement of the quality of the environment among other objectives. In achieving this objective, the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive are in a key role. These two Directives will be discussed next.

⁴³ Consolidated version of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU) [2016] OJ C202/47, Art 4(2)(e).

⁴⁴ ibid, Arts 3-6.

⁴⁵ Vera Milicevic, 'The European Union and forests' (*Fact Sheets on the European Union*, European Parliament 2023) https://www.europarl.europa.eu/factsheets/en/sheet/105/the-european-union-and-forests accessed 22 May 2024.

⁴⁶ ibid.

⁴⁷ TFEU (n 43) Art 191(2).

⁴⁸ ibid, Art 191(1).

⁴⁹ An Cliquet, 'EU Nature Conservation Law: Fit for Purpose' in Marjan Peeters and Mariolina Eliantonio (eds), *Research Handbook on EU Environmental Law* (Edward Elgar 2020) 267.

2.2 The Habitats Directive

2.2.1 The objectives of the Habitats Directive

As beforementioned, the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive form the core of biodiversity protection in the EU. The Directives create obligations on Member States to act in a certain way and to prohibit specific activities. The aim of the Habitats Directive is 'to contribute towards ensuring bio-diversity through the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora in the European territory of the Member States to which the Treaty applies'. Furthermore, the measures of the Habitats Directive are 'to maintain or restore, at favourable conservation status, natural habitats and species of wild fauna and flora of Community interest'. The conservation status for natural habitats is defined in Article 1(e). There are two ways the Habitats Directive sets out to achieve its aims; the Natura 2000 network and species protection. These will be described next.

2.2.2 Area protection through the Natura 2000 network

The Natura 2000 network is meant to enable the maintenance or restoration of the natural habitat types and the habitats of species within the Natura 2000 sites. ⁵⁵ The habitat types and habitats of species included in the network are listed in separate Annexes. ⁵⁶ The focus of this thesis is on EU forests and the protection of biodiversity within them as explained before. Forest types such as Western Taiga are listed in Annex I of the Habitats Directive therefore

⁵⁰ ibid 266.

⁵¹ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 2(1).

⁵² ibid, Art 2(2).

⁵³ Conservation status is defined as 'the sum of the influences acting on a natural habitat and its typical species that may affect its long-term natural distribution, structure and functions as well as the long-term survival of its typical species'. It is favourable when the covered natural range and area are increasing or stable, 'the specific structure and functions which are necessary for its long-term maintenance exist and are likely to continue to exist for the foreseeable future' and the typical species of the habitat has a favourable conservation status. (The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 1(e).)

⁵⁴ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Arts 3(1), 12, 13.

⁵⁵ ibid, Art 3(1).

⁵⁶ ibid, Art 3(1). Natural habitats are 'terrestrial or aquatic areas distinguished by geographic, abiotic and biotic features, whether entirely natural or semi-natural' while habitat of species is defined as 'an environment defined by specific abiotic and biotic factors, in which the species lives at any stage of its biological cycle'. (The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 1(b), (f).)

belonging to the natural habitat types which are of community interest and require a special area of conservation.⁵⁷ Within the natural habitat types in the Habitats Directive, certain habitat types have been allocated as priority habitat types.⁵⁸ These habitat types are 'in danger of [disappearance]' and there is a 'particular responsibility' to conserve these habitats.⁵⁹ Multiple forest habitats are listed as priority habitats in Annex I.⁶⁰

With the Natura 2000 network, the protection of habitat types in the Habitats Directive is based on area protection. Special areas of conservation (SACs) for natural habitat types are created based on the Member States' list of sites hosting the habitats listed in Annex I of the Directive. Even though the Natura 2000 network is designed also to restore the habitat types, the Habitats Directive does not have specific obligations on restoration within Natura 2000. Even though the Natura 2000.

Under Article 6(1) Member States are obliged to 'establish the necessary conservation measures' for the SACs which are to include suitable management plans when needed. Furthermore, Member States are obliged to 'take appropriate steps to avoid, in the special areas of conservation, the deterioration of natural habitats and the habitats of species as well as disturbance of the species'. The European Court of Justice (ECJ) has specified that with Article 6(2) of the Habitats Directive, the measures to avoid deterioration or disturbance should not wait for the deterioration or disturbance to take place. The state of the species of the species are obliged to 'take appropriate steps to avoid deterioration or disturbance should not wait for the deterioration or disturbance to take place.

While the management of the Natura 2000 sites needs to contribute to conservation, different activities can be allowed within Natura 2000 forests, for example, timber production.⁶⁶

⁵⁷ ibid, Annex I, s 9.

⁵⁸ ibid, Art 1(d), Annex I.

⁵⁹ ibid, Art 1(d).

⁶⁰ ibid, Annex I, s 9.

⁶¹ ibid, Art 4(1).

⁶² ibid, Arts 2(2), 3(1).

⁶³ ibid, Art 6(1).

⁶⁴ ibid, Art 6(2).

⁶⁵ Case C- 418/04 *Commission v Ireland* [2007] ECR I-10947, para 208; H Schouken, 'Non-Regression Clauses in Times of Ecological Restoration Law: Article 6(2) of the EU Habitats Directive as an unusual ally to restore Natura 2000?' (2017) 13 Utrecht Law Review 124, 134; Commission, *Managing Natura 2000 sites: The provisions of Article 6 of the 'Habitats' Directive 92/43/EEC* (Publications Office of the European Union 2019) 25.

⁶⁶ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 6(3); Commission, *Natura 2000 and Forests Part I-II* (Office for Official Publications of the European Communities 2015) 58.

However, if the plan or project is 'not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site' but is likely to significantly affect the protected site, 'either individually or in combination with other plans or projects', it needs to undergo an appropriate assessment.⁶⁷ The national authorities can approve the plan or project only after it is certain that there will be no adverse effects.⁶⁸ The ECJ has held that this certainty is interpreted as meaning that 'no reasonable scientific doubt remains as to the absence of such effects'.⁶⁹ Thus with the appropriate assessment and the authorisation of plans and projects, the precautionary principle is implemented through Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive therefore protecting the Natura 2000 sites from harmful effects.⁷⁰

The appropriate assessment of Article 6(3) ensures that while conservation is the main objective of the Natura 2000 network, forestry is not hindered where it is deemed either directly connected or necessary to the management, or it passes the appropriate assessment. Indeed, the Commission has stated that Natura 2000 forests can 'be managed with a view to achieving multiple functions' such as timber production together with nature protection. However, according to the ECJ, if the forest management operations do not set out conservation objectives and measures for the site, they constitute a 'plan' under Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive and are subject to an appropriate assessment if they are likely to have a significant effect. Therefore, even the directly connected and necessary management measures need to consider the conservation of the site. Although forestry activities may be allowed in Natura 2000 sites, they need to be in accordance with Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive which creates protection for forest biodiversity.

Article 6(4) grants that even if the appropriate assessment is negative, where the plan or project is of an overriding public interest, it can be executed if there are no alternative solutions.⁷³ The ECJ has stated that for Article 6(4), 'the implementation of a plan or project

⁻

⁶⁷ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 6(3).

⁶⁸ ibid, Art 6(3).

⁶⁹ Case C-127/02 Waddenvereniging and Vogelsbeschermingvereniging (Waddenzee) [2004] ECR I-07405, para 61.

⁷⁰ Case C-441/17 European Commission v Republic of Poland (Białowieża) [2018] OJ C200/20, para 118

⁷¹ Commission, Natura 2000 and Forests Part I-II (n 66) 58.

⁷² Białowieża (n 70) paras 123-124, 127.

⁷³ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 6(4).

must be both 'public' and 'overriding''. The With priority natural habitat types and species, the justifications for a plan or project to take place despite a negative assessment are more specific. In the situation that the plan or project is carried out under Article 6(4), Member States are obligated to take compensatory measures to protect 'the overall coherence of Natura 2000'. This creates an attempt to mitigate the adverse effects by the protection of coherence. The Natura 2000 sites under the Habitats Directive are in summary a direct way of protecting forests by focusing on their conservation through area-based measures. The next section will describe the species protection within the Habitats Directive.

2.2.3 Species protection

The second way the Habitats Directive sets out to conserve biodiversity is through species protection. When it comes to species protection in the Habitats Directive, Article 12 establishes a strict protection system for animal species in Annex IV(a) of the Directive while Article 13 concerns the strict protection of plant species in Annex IV(b).⁷⁷ Thus similarly to the habitat types under the Natura 2000 network, species protection in the Habitats Directive follows an Annex-based system. The Articles list prohibited actions such as deliberate disturbance of animal species and the 'deterioration or destruction of breeding sites or resting places' as well as deliberate picking of the strictly protected plants.⁷⁸

Importantly, species protection in the Habitats Directive is not concentrated on the area-based measures of the Natura 2000 network but on the species themselves and actions harmful to them. This can cause indirect protection for forests if for example forestry operations would constitute a disturbance to the species and fall under the prohibited actions of Article 12(1). This was the case in *Skydda Skogen* where the ECJ held that forestry work can fall under the prohibitions of Article 12(1)(a) to (c).⁷⁹ As for the protection of breeding sites and resting places under Article 12(1)(d), the *Białowieża* judgment held that the forestry in question fell

⁷⁷ ibid, Arts 12, 13.

⁷⁴ Case C-182/10 Solvay and Others [2012] OJ C179/18, para 75.

⁷⁵ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 6(4).

⁷⁶ ibid, Art 6(4).

⁷⁸ ibid, Arts 12(1)(b), (d), 13(1)(a).

⁷⁹ Case C-473/19 Föreningen Skydda Skogen v Länsstyrelsen i Västra Götlands län (Skydda Skogen) [2021] OJ C163/6, para 53.

under the provision.⁸⁰ The protection for the breeding sites and resting places under Article 12(1)(d) applies regardless of the number of species present in the site.⁸¹ In the *Białowieża* case, the ECJ stated that 'the system of strict protection presupposes the adoption of coherent and coordinated measures of a preventive nature'.⁸² Therefore simply having the legislation in place in the Member State is not enough.⁸³ Species protection in the Habitats Directive thus provides indirect protection to forests by protecting both the species and their breeding sites and resting places.

Article 16 of the Habitats Directive sets out a possibility to derogate from the strict protection system of species. The possibility is only if 'there is no satisfactory alternative and the derogation is not detrimental to the maintenance of the populations of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status'.⁸⁴ A further listed reason from the subsections of Article 16(1) of the Directive is needed for the derogation. For example, under Article 16(1)(b) the prevention of serious damage to forests can be a reason for derogation.

Significantly, to derogate from the strict protection system of species, the derogation cannot be detrimental to the favourable conservation status. ⁸⁵ The requirement is not the same for habitat types under Article 6 of the Directive, which does not explicitly mention the favourable conservation status. The ECJ has held that the prohibitions under Article 12(1) of the Habitats Directive do not cease to apply even if a species has a favourable conservation status. ⁸⁶ Although favourable conservation status is one of its objectives, the Habitats Directive does not set clear deadlines for the maintenance or restoration of it. ⁸⁷ The next section will describe the forest protection outside the Natura 2000 network.

-

⁸⁰ Białowieża (n 70) paras 236, 238.

⁸¹ ibid, para 237.

⁸² ibid, para 231.

⁸³ ibid.

⁸⁴ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 16(1).

⁸⁵ ibid, Art 16(1).

⁸⁶ Skydda Skogen (n 79) para 66.

⁸⁷ Kai Kokko, 'Ennallistaminen ympäristöoikeuden sektoreilla – luonnonsuojelu' (2023) 4 Ympäristöjuridiikka 47, 51.

2.2.4 Forest protection outside the Natura 2000 sites

Where the species protection extends outside the Natura 2000 network and protects forests indirectly, the obligations to protect habitat types outside the Natura 2000 sites are weak in the Habitats Directive. Article 10 of the Habitats Directive somewhat extends the scope of the Directive outside the Natura 2000 network by aiming for the improvement of the ecological coherence of the Natura 2000 network. 88 When necessary, 'Member States shall endeavour [...] in their land-use planning and development policies [...] to encourage the management of features of the landscape which are of major importance for wild fauna and flora'. 89 Article 10 is referred to in Article 3(3) of the Habitats Directive which is similar to Article 10. Article 3(3) of the Habitats Directive states that where the Member States consider necessary, they 'shall endeavour to improve the ecological coherence of Natura 2000 by maintaining, and where appropriate developing features of the landscape which are of major importance for wild fauna and flora, as referred to in Article 10'. Article 10 together with Article 3(3) are therefore examples of considerations Member States should give to the areas outside of the Natura 2000 network.

Yet, Articles 10 and 3(3) create uncertainties. ⁹⁰ The Articles leave room for interpretation on whether Member States are under an obligation to take protection measures outside the Natura 2000 network. Although measures can be taken outside the network, the provisions of Articles 3(3) and 10 are vague in setting possible obligations and their relation to the protection of forests. The discretion left to the Member States is therefore large. ⁹¹ Combined with the area-based protection of forest habitat types which focuses on the Natura 2000 sites, the Habitats Directive lacks direct obligations for the protection of forest habitat types outside the Natura 2000 network. The next section will first describe the protection provided by the Birds Directive.

⁻

⁸⁸ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 10.

⁸⁹ ihid

⁹⁰ L Squintani, 'The Development of Ecological Corridors: Member States' Obligation under the Habitats and Birds Directives?' (2012) 9.2 Journal for European Environmental & Planning Law 180, 186

⁹¹ Geert van Hoorik, 'Biodiversity outside protected areas: An outlaw waiting to be saved?' in Charles-Hubert Born and others (eds), *The Habitats Directive in its EU Environmental Law Context: European Nature*'s *Best Hope*? (Routledge 2015) 458.

2.3 The Birds Directive

The Habitats Directive complements the biodiversity protection of the older Birds Directive which covers the conservation of wild birds. The Directive applies to the habitats of birds, to the birds themselves as well as to their eggs and nests. ⁹² The Birds Directive does not apply to the protection of habitat types and therefore does not directly protect forests. Nevertheless, the Birds Directive is relevant to be described as it provides indirect protection to forests and offers a comparative framework for the indirect protection provided by species protection in the Habitats Directive.

Similarly to the Habitats Directive, the Birds Directive approaches the protection of species' habitats through area protection. The species' habitats under the Birds Directive are conserved and maintained through the creation of special protection areas (SPAs) for the Annex I species. Similar measures are needed 'for regularly occurring migratory species not listed in Annex I'. He obligations of Article 6(2), (3), and (4) of the Habitats Directive apply to the SPAs under the Birds Directive as well. Additionally, the Member States are required to 'strive to avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats' outside of the protected areas. This is significant as no similar provision exists in the Habitats Directive. Although Articles 3(3) and 10 of the Habitats Directive consider areas outside the Natura 2000, they are silent on pollution and deterioration.

Under Article 5 of the Birds Directive, the EU Member States are required 'to establish a general system of protection for all species of birds'. ⁹⁷ Article 5 prohibits for example the 'deliberate destruction of, or damage to, [the] nests and eggs or removal of [the] nests' of birds as well as the 'deliberate disturbance of these birds particularly during the period of breeding and rearing, in so far as disturbance would be significant having regard to the objectives of this Directive'. ⁹⁸ With these prohibitions Article 5 of the Birds Directive is

⁹² The Birds Directive (n 24) Art 1(2).

⁹³ ibid, Art 4(1).

⁹⁴ ibid, Art 4(2).

⁹⁵ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 7.

⁹⁶ The Birds Directive (n 24) Art 4(4).

⁹⁷ ibid, Art 5.

⁹⁸ ibid, Art 5(b), (d).

comparable to Article 12 of the Habitats Directive. The ECJ has held that the prohibition of Article 5(b) and (d) are 'intended in essence to protect the breeding sites and resting places of the birds covered by that directive'. 99 As Article 5 is applicable to all birds under Article 1, it is not limited to protection within the Natura 2000 network.

The ECJ has held that Member States cannot exempt forestry from the prohibitions of Article 5 but need to follow the derogation criteria of the Birds Directive. ¹⁰⁰Article 9 of the Directive allows the Member States to derogate from the obligations of Article 5 for listed reasons and if no satisfactory alternative solutions are available. ¹⁰¹ Preventing serious damage to forests is one reason for derogating under Article 9(1)(a) of the Birds Directive, similar to Article 16(1)(b) of the Habitats Directive.

Therefore, the Birds Directive uses area-based measures as one method of protection through the SPAs, but it also sets out provisions which are applicable outside the Natura 2000 network. The Birds Directive is not limited to its Annexes in what is protected through the general system of protection in Article 5. The following section will further analyse the species protection both in the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive in comparison to the protection of habitat types.

2.4 Species can indirectly protect forests

The animal species protection in the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive can be divided into two categories. Firstly, species are protected through their habitats, either with the SACs of the Habitats Directive or with the SPAs of the Birds Directive. ¹⁰³ Secondly, animal species can be protected through the strict protection system of the Habitats Directive and the general system of protection in the Birds Directive. ¹⁰⁴ Both of these methods are capable of protecting forests indirectly. Where the habitat of the species is a forest, the SAC or SPA established for the species can indirectly protect the forest too. If certain activities are prohibited in the area

⁹⁹ *Białowieża* (n 70) para 252.

¹⁰⁰ Case 412/85 Commission v Germany [1987] ECR 03503, paras 14-18.

¹⁰¹ The Birds Directive (n 24) Art 9(1).

¹⁰² ibid, Art 4(4), 5.

¹⁰³ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 3(1); the Birds Directive (n 24) Art 4.

¹⁰⁴ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 12; the Birds Directive (n 24) Art 5.

for the protection of the species, they ultimately can protect the forest. Similarly, where the species itself is protected, and cannot be for example disturbed, this too can protect forests where a harmful activity for example to the forest would disturb the species.

The protection of species in the two Directives is significantly different to the protection of habitat types. The protection of habitat types follows area-based protection through the SACs in the Habitats Directive. At the same time, species protection is not necessarily limited to a specific area as explained above. Annex IV of the Habitats Directive lists the species which are under the strict protection system and the Birds Directive applies to all naturally occurring wild bird species and creates a general system of protection. Therefore, this type of species protection in the two Directives is not limited to the Natura 2000 network but protects the species also outside the network. The species protection is thus extended to a wider area scope. No similar general protection of habitat types exists in the Habitats Directive. Where the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive have systems of protection for species outside the Natura 2000 network, the Habitats Directive limits the forest protection to the listed forests in Annex I and Natura 2000 sites. This leads to deficiencies in the current EU legal system for forest habitat type protection.

The EU legal system thus protects forest biodiversity in the two Nature Directives through the protection of habitats and species. Forests themselves are directly protected through the protection of habitat types in the special areas of conservation of the Habitats Directive. However, this protection is concentrated on the designated Natura 2000 sites with a lack of direct obligations to protect habitat types outside the Natura 2000 network. The focus is further limited to the listed habitat types of Annex I. The next Chapter will analyse the weaknesses of the current legal system further.

-

¹⁰⁵ See Ch 2.2.3.

¹⁰⁶ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 12(1)(b); the Birds Directive (n 24) Art 5(d).

¹⁰⁷ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Annex IV; the Birds Directive (n 24) Arts 1, 5.

¹⁰⁸ The Birds Directive (n 24) Arts 1(1), 5; the Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 3(1).

3 The weaknesses of the current EU legislation protecting forest biodiversity

This Chapter will analyse the weaknesses of the current EU law protecting forest biodiversity in the EU. The focus is mainly on the Habitats Directive as it is the primary instrument designed to protect forests. The first weakness analysed will continue the earlier discussion on the protection of biodiversity in forests outside the Natura 2000 network. Secondly, the limitations of the Annex-based system of the Habitats Directive will be analysed. Finally, this Chapter will examine the lack of target deadlines for the achievement of the objectives in the Habitats Directive.

3.1 Obligations outside the Natura 2000 sites are weak

The first weakness of the current EU legislation analysed here concerns the protection and restoration of habitat types outside the Natura 2000 sites. In 2020, 45.1% of the EU land was forests or other wooded land. The Natura 2000 network covers only 18.6% of the land area in the EU. This is significantly low as 'Annex I forest habitats cover about 27% of all forested area in the EU.' Even though almost 50% of the Natura 2000 network is forests, many forests and thus biodiversity is left outside the network. The Habitats Directive's obligations outside the Natura 2000 network are thus looked at in this section.

Whereas the species provisions under the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive offer species protection outside the Natura 2000 network, the EU Member States are not under a similar obligation regarding the protection of habitat types in the Habitats Directive. Instead,

¹⁰⁹ Eurostat, *Agriculture, forestry and fishery statistics: 2020 edition* (Publication Office of the European Union 2020) 87.

¹¹⁰ European Environment Agency, 'Natura 2000 sites designated under the EU Habitats and Birds Directives' (EEA, 22 November 2022) https://www.eea.europa.eu/en/analysis/indicators/natura-2000-sites-designated-under?activeAccordion=ecdb3bcf-bbe9-4978-b5cf-0b136399d9f8 accessed 29 April 2024.

¹¹¹ EU Forest Strategy 2030 (n 34) 1.

¹¹² European Environment Agency, *The European environment – state and outlook 2020: Knowledge for transition to a sustainable Europe* (Publications Office of the European Union 2019) 77.

with habitat types, the focus is on the special areas of conservation under Natura 2000. 113 Even though Article 10 and Article 3(3) of the Habitats Directive provide for the Member States to consider measures outside the Natura 2000 network, they do not create any concrete obligations leading them to be weak provisions. 114 The scope of the species protection in both the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive extending to areas beyond the Natura 2000 network and indirectly protecting forests does not provide significant aid either as the focus of the protection measures is still on the species.

Thus, there is a lack of direct obligations to protect forests outside Natura 2000. This is significant considering the EU goals on protected areas. The EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 sets out the commitment to '[l]egally protect a minimum of 30% of the EU's land area'. 115 The Strategy calls for a widening of protected areas as the current network is not considered sufficiently large. 116 According to the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030, the additional protected areas designated by the Member States should be done either through the Natura 2000 network or national protection schemes. 117 Without the Habitats Directive setting out legal obligations for forest protection outside the existing network through other protection areas such as national schemes, achieving this goal with the Habitats Directive would rely on increasing the Natura 2000 network. With the current 18.6% coverage as mentioned above, the Natura 2000 network would have to nearly double in size to reach the 30% protection if national protection areas would be excluded from the calculation.

Furthermore, the Habitats Directive does not set specific obligations on restoring ecosystems outside of Natura 2000 sites. The measures taken under the Directive are to restore habitats at a favourable conservation status and the Natura 2000 network is to enable this restoration where it is appropriate. However, there is a lack of focus and a lack of obligations on restoration inside and outside the Natura 2000 network. The Commission has recognised this weakness, and the original proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation has an intention

¹¹³ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 3(1).

¹¹⁴ See Ch 2.2.1.

¹¹⁵ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 5.

¹¹⁶ ibid, 3.

¹¹⁷ ibid, 4.

¹¹⁸ Kokko (n 87) 51.

¹¹⁹ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Arts 2(2), 3(1).

behind it to address restoration within the Natura 2000 network and outside it. ¹²⁰ The 2050 goal of the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework is the restoration of all ecosystems by 2050, which would consequently include the restoration of all EU ecosystems. ¹²¹ Without the Habitats Directive setting out legal obligations outside the Natura 2000 network on the restoration of all ecosystems, achieving this international target by the EU does not seem feasible through the Habitats Directive. Having failed to meet the 2020 targets ¹²² with the Habitats Directive, and the 2030 quickly approaching, there is a need for reform in the EU legislation protecting forest biodiversity.

Thus, the lack of obligations outside the Natura 2000 network directly protecting and restoring forests is a weakness in the Habitats Directive. As the Habitats Directive is primarily focused on the protection of forests through the Natura 2000 network and the special areas of conservation, it only protects those habitat types covered in Annex I of the Directive. Therefore, the protection given by the Habitats Directive to forests is limited to the listed habitats and designated areas. This is a weakness in the forest biodiversity protection. The Annex-based system of the Directive will be discussed next.

3.2 The Annex-based system creates limitations

3.2.1 Limited coverage of protected habitat types

The Habitats Directive operates on an Annex-based system through which habitats can be protected under the Natura 2000 network. As the Member States need to contribute to the network only through a proportion of habitats and habitats of species present in their territory according to Article 3(2) of the Habitats Directive, the mere inclusion of habitats in the Annexes does not protect them. Annex I of the Habitats Directive covers natural habitat types and Annex II of the Directive lists habitats of species. This selection of habitat types in Annex

¹²⁰ Commission (2022) (n 28) Explanatory Memorandum, 8.

¹²¹ Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework (n 11) Annex, Section G, Goal A.

¹²² European Environment Agency, *State of nature in the EU: Results from reporting under the nature directives 2013-2018* (Publications Office of the European Union 2020) 128, 135.

¹²³ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 3(1); Niels Hoek, 'A Critical Analysis of the Proposed EU Regulation on Nature Restoration: Have the Problems Been Resolved?' [2022] European Energy and Environmental Law Review 320, 323.

¹²⁴ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 3(1).

I limits the biodiversity coverage of the Directive's measures to the selected habitats. This is a weakness of the Directive as it restricts what is covered by the protection. The Annexbased system and Article 3(2) of the Habitats Directive thus limit the coverage of habitat types protected within the Member States therefore limiting the protection of forests.

3.2.2 Primary and old-growth forests are not mentioned

A consequence of the Annex-based system is that there are forests which can be left out of the protection under the Habitats Directive. Namely, the Habitats Directive does not explicitly mention primary and old-growth forests. ¹²⁶ Primary and old-growth forests can be summarised to mean forests where human activities are either not visible, or they are limited or disappearing. ¹²⁷ According to a report by the Joint Research Centre, the European Commission's science and knowledge service, which gathered information from different sources, the estimated area of primary forests in the EU is between 2% and 3%. ¹²⁸ Most of these forests are concentrated in Sweden, Bulgaria, Finland, and Romania. ¹²⁹ Although Europe only hosts a small extent of primary and old-growth forests, they are significant for biodiversity conservation. ¹³⁰ Consequently, the small number of these forests left in Europe makes them even more important to be legally protected. Together with the lack of obligations for protection outside the Natura 2000 network in the Habitats Directive, and without the inclusion of primary and old-growth forests in the Directive, the Directive does not protect these forests where they are located outside the network. Furthermore, there is no indirect protection for primary and old-growth forests in the species protection provisions of

¹²⁵ Hoek (n 123) 323.

¹²⁶ The Habitats Directive (n 24); Jessica Stubenrauch and Beatrice Garske, 'Forest protection in the EU's renewable energy directive and nature conservation legislation in light of the climate and biodiversity crisis – Identifying legal shortcomings and solutions' (2023) 153 Forest Policy and Economics, 1, 7.

¹²⁷ Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: Commission Guidelines for Defining, Mapping, Monitoring and Strictly Protecting EU Primary and Old-Growth Forests' SWD (2023) 62 final, 6-7.

¹²⁸ Commission and others, *Mapping and assessment of primary and old-growth forests in Europe* (Publications Office of the European Union 2021) 11. ¹²⁹ ibid.

¹³⁰ ibid, 9.

the Habitats Directive or the Birds Directive, unless they constitute breeding sites or resting places for the protected species.¹³¹

Strict protection of 'all remaining EU primary and old-growth forests' is a commitment under the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030. 132 This is additionally emphasised in the EU Forest Strategy 2030. 133 The inclusion of primary and old-growth forests is a new goal for the EU as neither were mentioned in the 2020 EU Biodiversity Strategy. 134 Sabatini and others have found that many of these forests have been unprotected in Europe. 135 The European Forest Institute has stated that to protect biodiversity in primary and old-growth forests, full protection of the forests is '[t]he most effective way'. 136 A report from the European Commission claims that ideal conservation for primary and old-growth forests would be 'a functionally connected network of strict forest reserves, aimed at integrating all small and isolated primary and old-growth patches, with adequately managed buffer zones and corridors'. 137

As a network of protected sites, Natura 2000 could have an opportunity to conserve the remaining primary and old-growth forests and thus increase forest biodiversity protection. Including primary and old-growth forests in the Habitats Directive and widening the Annexbased system could aid in achieving their protection. However, when considering Article 3(2) of the Habitats Directive, the Member States' contribution to the Natura 2000 network is 'in proportion to the representation within its territory of the natural habitat types and the habitats of species' under Annexes I and II. Thus, the inclusion of habitat types in Annex I does not automatically ensure their protection as not all Annex I habitat types present on the Member State's territory need to be protected.

¹³¹ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 12(1)(d); the Birds Directive (n 24) Art 5(d).

¹³² EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 5.

¹³³ EU Forest Strategy 2030 (n 34) 11.

 ¹³⁴ Commission, 'Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Our life insurance, our natural capital: an EU biodiversity strategy to 2020' (EU Biodiversity Strategy 2020) COM (2011) 244 final.
 135 F M Sabatini and others, 'Protection gaps and restoration opportunities for primary forests in Europe' (2020) 26 Diversity and Distributions 1646, 1656.

¹³⁶ Muys and others (n 1) 5.

¹³⁷ Commission and others, *Mapping and assessment of primary and old-growth forests in Europe* (Publications Office of the European Union 2021) 22.

Some of the Natura 2000 sites in the EU do include primary and old-growth forests despite their lack of inclusion in the Habitats Directive. However, this may not be enough to achieve the strict protection target as Article 6 of the Habitats Directive does not enable strict protection by its nature. The strict protection target of the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 has been explained to mean that the natural processes of the area are left undisturbed. Currently, 'not all management plans of Natura 2000 sites might recognise the explicit value of primary and old-growth forests'. However, the management of Natura 2000 forests does not solely need to focus on nature protection, but different activities, such as timber production can be included. For primary and old-growth forests this can be detrimental.

If the conservation measures and management plans under Article 6(1) of the Habitats Directive do not identify the value of primary and old-growth forests as stated above, strict protection may be threatened. This in turn threatens the achievement of commitment in the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 to strictly protect all remaining primary and old-growth forests. Without the explicit inclusion of primary and old-growth forests under the protection of the Habitats Directive, their protection remains largely at the discretion of the Member States. The Annex-based system and Article 3(2) of the Habitats Directive therefore create a weakness by restricting what is protected under the Directive. The two limit the forest biodiversity protection provided by the current EU legal system as a part of valuable biodiversity is left out.

¹³⁸ ibid, 18.

¹³⁹ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20), 4.

¹⁴⁰ Commission and others, *Mapping and assessment of primary and old-growth forests in Europe* (Publications Office of the European Union 2021) 18.

¹⁴¹ Commission, *Natura 2000 and Forests Part I-II* (Office for Official Publications of the European Communities 2015) 58.

¹⁴² Watson and others (n 8) 605.

¹⁴³ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 5.

3.3 No target deadlines for objectives, no incentive to achieve

The final weakness of the current EU legal system identified here is that the Habitats Directive does not define deadlines for its objectives. For example, there are no deadlines for the maintenance and restoration of the favourable conservation status of habitat types. Habitate are objective under Article 2(2) of the Habitats Directive. The Natura 2000 sites are considered to be the essence for the achievement of a favourable conservation status in the EU. Habitate are in the EU. Habitate Directive, 'only 14.1% of forest habitates are in a favourable conservation status'. Habitates Directive, 'only 14.1% of forest habitates are in a favourable conservation status'. Habitates Directive, 'only 14.1% of forest habitates are in a favourable conservation status'.

Hoek has argued that with the absence of deadlines in the Habitats Directive, 'Member States have little incentive to invest in restoration policies which go beyond maintaining the status quo'. ¹⁴⁸ This can therefore threaten forest biodiversity if there is little incentive to achieve the objectives. Furthermore, the achievement of the EU targets on biodiversity does not seem foreseeable without a legal roadmap. Although the EU has set out the Biodiversity Strategies for 2020 and 2030 with targets to be achieved by the end year of the strategies, they have not replaced the lack of deadlines in the Habitats Directive. For 2020, the EU Biodiversity Strategy set out a target on halting 'the deterioration in the status of all species and habitats covered by EU nature legislation' as well as on improving their status. ¹⁴⁹ This target was not met. ¹⁵⁰ Trying to continue the process, the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 again sets the target

_

¹⁴⁴ Kokko (n 87) 51. The conservation status of natural habitat types and the favourable conservation status are defined in Article 1(e) of the Habitats Directive.

¹⁴⁵ Commission, *Natura 2000 and Forests Part I-II* (Office for Official Publications of the European Communities 2015) 59.

¹⁴⁶ Case C-371/98 The Queen v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and the Regions, ex parte First Corporate Shipping Ltd (First Corporate Shipping) [2000] ECR I-09235, para 23.

¹⁴⁷ J Maes and others, Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystems and their Services: An EU ecosystem assessment (Publications Office of the European Union 2020) 10.

¹⁴⁸ Hoek (n 123) 322.

¹⁴⁹ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2020 (n 134) 5.

¹⁵⁰ Commission, 'Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council and the European Economic and Social Committee: The state of nature in the European Union, Report on the status and trends in 2013 – 2018 of species and habitat types protected by the Birds and Habitats Directives' COM (2020) 635 final, 9.

of 'no deterioration in conservation trends and status of all protected habitats and species by 2030'. 151

In the *Białowieża* case, the ECJ stated that the objectives and procedures of Article 6 of the Habitats Directive are designed to achieve the objectives of Article 2(2) of the Directive. 152 Whether Article 6 is enough to achieve the objectives and mitigate the weakness of the absence of deadlines can be questioned. As explained in Chapter 2, under Article 6(1) and (2) of the Habitats Directive, the Member States are obliged to establish conservation measures for the SACs and to avoid deterioration of the habitats. Moreover, Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive mentions 'the site's conservation objectives' in the context of an appropriate assessment. Stahl has suggested that due to the Habitats Directive not defining what these conservation objectives are, they can be read in light of the Directive's general objectives from Article 2.¹⁵³ This implies that the conservation objectives are to apply the Directive's objectives on a site level and implement these through the conservation measures. ¹⁵⁴ The measures taken under Article 6 could therefore aid in the achievement of the Directive's objectives. However, the evidence on the low percentage of forests with a favourable conservation status does not indicate that Article 6 of the Habitats Directive alone is enough. Considering these shortfalls, the weakness of the absence of target deadlines in the Habitats Directive remains.

With the lack of target deadlines in the Habitats Directive, there is no timeline within the Directive for the achievement of its objectives. Member States are to report to the Commission every six years on how they have implemented measures. This report is to include information on Article 6(1) conservation measures, and on how those measures have impacted the conservation status of Annex I natural habitats. The Commission will compose the Member States' reports into one. However, there are no provisions for

¹⁵¹ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 6.

¹⁵² Białowieża (n 70) para 106.

¹⁵³ Lucile Stahl, 'The concept of 'conservation objectives' in the Habitats Directive: a need for a better definition' in Charles-Hubert Born and others (eds), *The Habitats Directive in its EU Environmental Law Context: European Nature's Best Hope?* (Routledge 2015) 58.

¹⁵⁴ ibid 59.

¹⁵⁵ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 17(1).

¹⁵⁶ ibid.

¹⁵⁷ ibid, Art 17(2).

accountability if the objectives are not met. Therefore, the absence of deadlines in the Habitats Directive leads to multiple issues. The achievement of the objectives is endangered without an incentive for the Member States, and the current obligations do not guarantee the achievement of the objectives. Without accountability provisions, the trust is put on the Member States to achieve the objectives.

3.4 Conclusions on the weaknesses

To answer the second research question, three weaknesses of the current EU legal system were identified. Firstly, there is a lack of direct obligations to protect and restore forests outside the Natura 2000 network in the Habitats Directive. This questions the achievement of the goals set out in the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 and the EU's international commitments. Secondly, the Annex-based system and Article 3(2) of the Habitats Directive create limitations on what is covered by the Directive's protection. Finally, the absence of deadlines for the achievement of the Habitats Directive's objectives is another weakness in the current EU legal system. The next Chapter will describe and analyse the Nature Restoration Regulation.

4 The Nature Restoration Regulation

In this Chapter, the Nature Restoration Regulation will be introduced and described. The second part of the Chapter will discuss how the Nature Restoration Regulation would impact the current protection of forest biodiversity in the EU. To answer the third research question, the Regulation's response to the weaknesses of the current EU legislation from the previous Chapter is analysed.

4.1 Introducing the Nature Restoration Regulation

4.1.1 Purpose of the Nature Restoration Regulation

Internationally, the need for restoration of ecosystems had previously been identified in the Strategic Goals and the Aichi Biodiversity Targets of the Convention on Biological Diversity for 2020. Restoration gained further focus on an international scale by the United Nations General Assembly declaring a decade on ecosystem restoration from 2021 to 2030. On the EU level, the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 set out that Europe would lead the way in reversing biodiversity loss with an EU Nature Restoration Plan. The Strategy recognised gaps in the implementation and regulation of already existing requirements on nature restoration in the EU legislation.

The EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 thus committed to propose EU nature restoration targets which would be legally binding. The proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation is the result. The legal basis of the Nature Restoration Regulation is Article 192(1) of the TFEU. Therefore it is aimed to meet the Union's objectives on the environment under

¹⁵⁸ COP CBD, 'Decision Adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity at its tenth meeting. X/2. The Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and the Aichi Biodiversity Targets' Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity, 29 October 2010 UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/X/2, Strategic goal D, Targets 14, 15.

¹⁵⁹ United Nations General Assembly, 'Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 1 March 2019. United Nations Decade on Ecosystem Restoration (2021-2030)' United Nations General Assembly, 6 March 2019 A/RES/73/284.

¹⁶⁰ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 6.

¹⁶¹ ibid.

¹⁶² ibid. 14.

¹⁶³ Commission (2022) (n 28) Explanatory Memorandum, 2-3.

¹⁶⁴ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) preamble.

Article 191 of the TFEU. ¹⁶⁵ The purpose of the Regulation is to 'contribute to: the long-term and sustained recovery of biodiverse and resilient ecosystems across the Member States' land and sea areas'. ¹⁶⁶ Furthermore, the rules are contributing to the achievement of the EU's international commitments. ¹⁶⁷ In the preamble of the Regulation these commitments are explained as the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework under the Convention on Biological Diversity and the UN Sustainable Development Goals. ¹⁶⁸ The next sections will describe and discuss how the Nature Restoration Regulation would oblige the Member States to achieve its purpose through the different provisions.

4.1.2 General obligations

The Nature Restoration Regulation is concerned with 'the restoration of degraded ecosystems'. With the biodiversity in forests degrading as explained in the background of this thesis, the Regulation is relevant for forests. The relevant geographical scope of the Regulation is 'the territory of Member States'. Pecifically, the 'Regulation applies only to ecosystems in the European territory of the Member States'. The Regulation sets in Article 1(2) a joint Union target to cover 'at least 20% of land areas and at least 20% of sea areas by 2030, and all ecosystems in need of restoration by 2050'.

Article 4 of the Regulation sets out the general obligations for the restoration of terrestrial, coastal, and freshwater ecosystems. The first subsection of Article 4 sets out the obligation of necessary restoration measures for the improvement of Annex I habitat types not in good condition. By 2030, restoration measures are to be put in place 'on at least 30% of the total area of all habitat types listed in Annex I that is not in good condition'. Annex I of the Nature Restoration Regulation is the same list of habitat types as in Annex I of the Habitats

¹⁶⁵ TFEU (n 43) Art 192(1).

¹⁶⁶ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 1(1)(a).

¹⁶⁷ ibid, Art 1(1)(d).

¹⁶⁸ ibid, preamble 4, 5.

¹⁶⁹ ibid, Art 1(1)(a).

¹⁷⁰ ibid, Art 2(a).

¹⁷¹ ibid, Art 2.

¹⁷² ibid, Art 4(1).

¹⁷³ ibid, Art 4(1)(a).

Directive.¹⁷⁴ Notably in Article 4(1), the priority is given to areas within Natura 2000 sites until 2030.¹⁷⁵ The provision can be interpreted as implying that after 2030 the restoration measures shall be put in place inside and outside the Natura 2000 sites.¹⁷⁶ There is a possibility of derogating from the obligations of Article 4(1).¹⁷⁷ This derogation however does not exclude the Member State from the obligation to put in place restoration measures.¹⁷⁸ Rather, the derogation allows the Member State to 'exclude from the relevant group of habitat types very common and widespread habitat types that cover more than 3% of their European territory'.¹⁷⁹ Where this is applied, the Member States are still required to take restoration measures although on a lower scale in comparison to Article 4(1).¹⁸⁰

Under Article 4(4), the Member States are subject to an obligation to establish necessary restoration measures 'to re-establish the habitat types listed in Annex I in areas where those habitat types do not occur'. These measures have 'the aim of reaching the favourable reference area for those habitat types'. The favourable reference area is measured at the national level, meaning the total area of a habitat type, 'considered the minimum necessary to ensure the long-term viability of the habitat type', its typical species or species composition, and the habitat type's ecological variations. For Annex I habitat types, this re-establishment is contributing to their favourable conservation status. The provision formulates targets for the re-establishment for the years 2030, 2040, and 2050.

Another Member State obligation is set out in Article 4(11) of the Nature Restoration Regulation. The measures by the Member States should aim that the restoration areas under Article 4(1) and (4) 'show a continuous improvement in the condition of the habitat types

¹⁷⁴ ibid, Annex I.

¹⁷⁵ ibid, Art 4(1).

¹⁷⁶ ibid.

¹⁷⁷ ibid, Art 4(2).

¹⁷⁸ ibid.

¹⁷⁹ ibid.

¹⁸⁰ ibid.

¹⁸¹ ibid, Art 4(4).

¹⁸² ibid.

¹⁸³ ibid, Art 3(8).

¹⁸⁴ ibid.

¹⁸⁵ ibid, Art 4(4).

listed in Annex I until good condition is reached'. Under Article 4(17), the Member States shall ensure that the area of Annex I habitat types in good condition increases 'until at least 90% is in good condition and until the favourable reference area for each habitat type in each biogeographic region of the Member State concerned is reached'. For habitats of species under the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive, 'an increasing trend towards the sufficient quality and quantity' is enough. 188

The EU Member States are to fulfil the obligations of the Nature Restoration Regulation and to contribute to the objectives and targets of Article 1 through national restoration plans. National restoration plans are covered in Chapter 3 of the Regulation. These plans are to be prepared for the identification of the necessary restoration measures needed to achieve the obligations, objectives and targets of the Regulation. The content of the plans is to cover the period until 2050. Thus the timeline follows the international goals and the EU's commitments. Additionally, the plans are to include 'intermediate deadlines corresponding to the targets and obligations set out in Articles 4 to 13'. With the preparation of the plans, the Member States are to take into account 'the conservation measures established for Natura 2000 sites in accordance with' the Habitats Directive.

The national restoration plans are to be reviewed and revised every ten years starting from 2032. 195 Member States need to include supplementary measures if the plan is not sufficient for the targets and obligations of the Regulation. 196 Furthermore, the Member States are under an obligation to report specific data and information to the Commission on the progress and measures. 197 Based on the reported information, if the Commission considers that the Member

¹⁸⁶ ibid, Art 4(11). According to the provision, the same aim of continuous improvement should be for restoration areas under Article 4(7) which concerns the habitats of species.

¹⁸⁷ ibid, Art 4(17)(a).

¹⁸⁸ ibid, Art 4(17)(b).

¹⁸⁹ ibid, Art 14(1).

¹⁹⁰ ibid.

¹⁹¹ ibid, Art 15(1).

¹⁹² Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework (n 11) Annex; EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20).

¹⁹³ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 15(1).

¹⁹⁴ ibid, Art 14(14)(a).

¹⁹⁵ ibid, Art 19(1).

¹⁹⁶ ibid, Art 19(2).

¹⁹⁷ ibid, Art 21.

State is making insufficient progress, it can request 'a revised draft national restoration plan with supplementary measures' after consulting the Member State in question. ¹⁹⁸ These supplementary measures are the only method of accountability in the Nature Restoration Regulation if a Member State is not on track towards the targets or fulfilling its obligations.

4.1.3 Non-deterioration

In the 2022 Commission's proposal for the Nature Restoration Regulation, Article 4(7) set out a non-deterioration clause by obliging the Member States to 'ensure that areas where habitat types listed in Annex I occur do not deteriorate'. The European Parliament omitted this provision from its 2023 version. However, in the 2024 version, the non-deterioration clause was introduced again, although as a weaker version in comparison to the original. Article 4(12) of the Nature Restoration Regulation establishes the Member States' obligation to 'endeavour to put in place necessary measures with the aim of preventing significant deterioration of areas where the habitat types listed in Annex I to this Regulation occur and which are in good condition or are necessary to meet the restoration targets' of Article 4(17). Page 101.

In comparison to the proposal's 2022 version, the wording of Article 4(12) has been significantly weakened with the change from 'shall ensure' to 'shall endeavour' and with the addition of 'significant' to deterioration.²⁰³ The new wording seems to indicate that the obligation to prevent deterioration can be fulfilled with an attempt to have measures rather than with an actual implementation of measures to prevent significant deterioration. Nevertheless, including the provision in the Regulation is an improvement to its omission in the 2023 version. A deadline for the measures preventing deterioration is the date of the national restoration plan's publication.²⁰⁴ This publication date is six months after the

¹⁹⁸ ibid, Art 19(3).

¹⁹⁹ Commission (2022) (n 28) Art 4(7).

²⁰⁰ European Parliament (2023) (n 29) Art 4.

²⁰¹ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 4(12).

²⁰² ibid, Art 4(12).

²⁰³ Commission (2022) (n 28), Art 4(7); Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 4(12).

²⁰⁴ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 4(12).

Member State has received the Commission's observations on the plan.²⁰⁵ Before these observations, the Member States are to submit a draft national restoration plan to the Commission by the deadline of 'the first day of the month following 24 months from the date of entry into force' of the Nature Restoration Regulation.²⁰⁶

Another non-deterioration clause in the Nature Restoration Regulation can be found in Article 4(11). Article 4(11) sets out the non-deterioration clause concerning 'areas in which good condition has been reached, and in which the sufficient quality of the habitats of the species has been reached'. For these areas, the Member States 'shall aim to ensure' that no significant deterioration occurs. This part of the provision needs to be read with the first part of Article 4(11), which sets out the aim for a continuous improvement in the Annex I habitat types' condition, to understand that the areas concerned include Annex I habitat types. The inclusion of the word 'aim' with 'shall' in the deterioration part of Article 4(11) weakens the meaning of the obligation significantly in comparison to the original 2022 wording 'shall ensure'. Yet, the 2023 version of the provision was even weaker. In the 2023 amendments the wording was changed from the 2022 'do not deteriorate' to 'does not significantly decrease over time'.

The obligations of Article 4(11) and (12) of the Nature Restoration Regulation can be derogated from both inside and outside Natura 2000 sites, in the cases of force majeure or where climate change has directly caused unavoidable habitat transformations. Outside Natura 2000 sites they do not apply either if there is an overriding public interest plan or project with no other solutions which would be less damaging. For Article 4(11), outside the Natura 2000 sites, the derogation based on a plan or project is determined case by case.

-

²⁰⁵ ibid, Art 17(6).

²⁰⁶ ibid, Art 16.

²⁰⁷ ibid, Art 4(11).

²⁰⁸ ibid, Art 4(11).

²⁰⁹ ibid

²¹⁰ Commission (2022) (n 28) Art 4(6); Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 4(11).

²¹¹ European Parliament (2023) (n 29) Art 4(6).

²¹² Commission (2022) (n 28) Art 4(6); ibid.

²¹³ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 4(14), (15).

²¹⁴ ibid, Art 4(14)(c), (15)(c). A further derogation scenario according to Articles 4(14)(d) and 4(15)(d) is 'action or inaction by third countries for which the Member State concerned is not responsible'.

²¹⁵ ibid, Art 4(14)(c).

Furthermore, Article 6(4) of the Habitats Directive can be used as a derogation within Natura 2000 sites as well. This shows the interlink of the regimes where they 'supplement each other'. 217

The deterioration provisions of the Nature Restoration Regulation are thus weaker than in the 2022 version of the Commission's proposal. Nevertheless, both subsections 11 and 12 are '[w]ithout prejudice to' the Habitats Directive. 19 As described in Chapter 2, in the Habitats Directive, Article 6(2) sets out a non-deterioration clause. Importantly, Article 6(2) of the Habitats Directive does not limit the avoidance of deterioration to necessary or good condition areas but applies to all special areas of conservation. Therefore, even though the non-deterioration provisions of the Nature Restoration Regulation are not strong, where restoration measures are taken on Natura 2000 sites, the Member States are still bound by the non-deterioration obligation of the Habitats Directive. With its deterioration provisions, the Nature Restoration Regulation adds value to the current legislation by extending the provision outside the Natura 2000 network. Where Article 6(2) of the Habitats Directive only applies to the special areas of conservation, Article 4(11) and (12) of the Nature Restoration Regulation apply to a wider scope especially when restoration measures are taken outside the Natura 2000 network. Therefore, this could protect forest biodiversity from significant deterioration in a larger area.

4.1.4 Forests and restoration

Articles 12 and 13 of the Nature Restoration Regulation concern specifically forests. While there is a definition of 'ecosystem' in Article 3(1) of the Regulation, there is no definition for 'forest ecosystem'. Article 12 focuses on the restoration of forest ecosystems while Article 13 sets out the Union's 'commitment of planting at least three billion additional trees by 2030'. The same objective is a key commitment in the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030. The EU

²¹⁶ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 4(16)(c).

²¹⁷ Hoek (n 123) 326.

²¹⁸ See Commission (2022) (n 28) Art 4(7).

²¹⁹ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 4(11), (12).

²²⁰ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 6(2).

²²¹ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Arts 12, 13(1).

²²² EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 14.

Forest Strategy 2030 further sets out an implementation roadmap to achieve this goal by creating 'criteria for tree planting, counting and monitoring'. Additional background to Article 13 is another objective of the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030. The Strategy calls to 'increase the quantity, quality and resilience' of the EU forests in order to fight the threats forests are facing. The Commission itself has however noted that '[p]lanting new trees is not an alternative to preserving existing trees'. Other measures for the protection of forest biodiversity are thus needed.

Concerning the restoration of forest ecosystems, Article 12(1) of the Nature Restoration Regulation sets out an obligation for Member States to take restoration measures for the enhancement of forest ecosystem biodiversity. Article 12(2) of the Regulation obliges the Member States to 'achieve an increasing trend at national level of the common forest bird index'. Furthering the obligations, Article 12(3) lists seven forest ecosystem indicators, out of which the Members States are to achieve an increasing trend at the national level for six indicators. These indicators are such as standing deadwood, lying deadwood, the share of forests with uneven-aged structure, and forest connectivity. 226 The 2023 version of Article 12 of the Regulation was criticised for not aiming for the achievement of the natural state of forest ecosystems but for the increase of the common forest bird index as well as for the enhancement of natural characteristics and carbon stock.²²⁷ The 2023 version did not include standing and lying deadwood as a forest ecosystem indicator. ²²⁸ This would have been a weakness as in order to have for example biodiversity-friendly forestry practices, both 'the conservation and restoration of near-natural forests' and 'deadwood should always be part of the management plan'. 229 Having deadwood as an indicator in legislation may thus ensure that even if forestry is exercised in the restoration areas, forest biodiversity is better taken into account.

-

²²³ EU Forest Strategy 2030 (n 34) 15.

²²⁴ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 9.

²²⁵ Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: The 3 Billion Tree Planting Pledge For 2030, Accompanying the document Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: New EU Forest Strategy for 2030' SWD (2021) 651 final, 3.

²²⁶ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 12(3)(a)-(d).

²²⁷ Pappila and Soininen (n 9) 31.

²²⁸ European Parliament (2023) (n 29) Art 10(2a).

²²⁹ Muys and others (n 1) 39.

Although the inclusion of deadwood as an indicator may not completely remedy the criticism of the lack of aim for a natural state, the list of forest ecosystem indicators in Article 12(3) addresses some of the threats forests and forest biodiversity face. To illustrate this, 'missing deadwood and missing continuity of deadwood and senescent trees [and] the creation of evenaged stand structure' are considered as threats to forest habitats.²³⁰ Consequently, standing and lying deadwood, and the 'share of forests with uneven-aged structure' are listed in Article 12(3).²³¹ As mentioned earlier, the Article obliges Member States to 'achieve an increasing trend at national level of at least six out of seven' of the listed forest ecosystem indicators.²³² The choice of indicators is to be based on how the indicator can 'demonstrate the enhancement of biodiversity of forest ecosystems within the Member State concerned'.²³³ Therefore, while the natural state of the forest ecosystem may not be the objective of the Article, there seems to be an attempt to increase biodiversity in forests.

In comparison to Article 4, Article 12 does not set out an overriding public interest plan or project as a justification for non-fulfilling the obligations.²³⁴ The only justifications are a force majeure of large-scale, or unavoidable habitat transformations with direct causation by climate change.²³⁵ Furthermore, the restoration measures under Article 12(1) are not only applicable to the forest habitat types of Annex I as the provision states that the measures for the enhancement of biodiversity in forest ecosystems are to be established 'in addition to the areas' subject to Article 4(1), (4) and (7).²³⁶ Due to this, 'the nature restoration laws are expanded beyond the Annexes of the existing' Nature Directives.²³⁷ This therefore should widen the scope of the area where forest biodiversity is covered by the EU legal system. The next section will analyse how the Nature Restoration Regulation addresses the weaknesses of the current EU legislation.

-

²³⁰ J A M Janssen and others, *European Red List of Habitats. Part 2. Terrestrial and freshwater habitats* (Publications Office of the European Union 2016) 21.

²³¹ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 12(3)(a), (b), (c).

²³² ibid, Art 12(3).

²³³ ibid, Art 12(3).

²³⁴ ibid, Arts 4(14), (15), (16), 12(4).

²³⁵ ibid, Art 12(4).

²³⁶ ibid, Art 12(1).

²³⁷ Hoek (n 123) 326.

4.2 Change in comparison to the current legal system

Restoration of habitats is not a new concept introduced by the Nature Restoration Regulation as already in Article 2(2) of the Habitats Directive restoring natural habitats among others is mentioned as an objective. ²³⁸ Nevertheless, the Nature Restoration Regulation would take a new, wider approach with its focus on restoration in comparison to the Habitats Directive. This section will now explore the third research question by analysing the Nature Restoration Regulation in comparison to the weaknesses of the current EU legislation protecting forest biodiversity which were identified in Chapter 3.

4.2.1 Measures outside Natura 2000 are left to the Member States' discretion

The first weakness of the current EU legal system is the lack of direct obligations to protect and restore forests outside the Natura 2000 network in the Habitats Directive and thus the lack of forest protection outside Natura 2000 sites. This section looks at the approach the Nature Restoration Regulation would take to measures outside the Natura 2000 network in comparison to the Habitats Directive.

The preamble of the Nature Restoration Regulation sets out a need for restoration measures also in the areas not covered by the Habitats Directive. This indicates that the legislators have had an intent to address the need for improving forest biodiversity outside the Natura 2000 network. However, the general obligations of the Nature Restoration Regulation put the focus of the first measures on the Natura 2000 network. As previously mentioned, Article 4(1) of the Nature Restoration Regulation gives priority to the Natura 2000 sites until 2030. In light of this priority, it may not be expected that the Member States undertake the general obligations of Article 4(1) on restoration measures outside of the Natura 2000 network before 2030. Nevertheless, beyond 2030 without the priority on the Natura 2000 sites, Article 4(1) can be interpreted to oblige the Member States to expand the restoration measures beyond the protected areas of the Natura 2000 network to achieve the targets set by the Article.

²³⁸ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 2(2).

²³⁹ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) preamble 62.

Another possibility for measures outside the Natura 2000 network is Article 4(4) of the Nature Restoration Regulation which concerns the re-establishment of the Annex I habitat types in areas where they are not present. The Commission has stated that restored areas could contribute towards the EU's targets on protected areas. Therefore, there could be an opportunity through successful re-establishment to increase the protected areas either within the Natura 2000 network or outside it. If successful re-establishment of Annex I habitat types in an area where they do not occur would increase the habitat types in need of protection either outside the Natura 2000 network or in connection to it, there could be an opportunity to increase protected areas. If a re-established area would be added to the network or protected as another area for example through a national scheme, this could lead to wider coverage and therefore increase the enhancement of forest biodiversity.

Significantly to Articles 4(1) and 4(4) of the Regulation, Article 4(10) establishes that 'the need for improved connectivity between the habitat types listed in Annex I' shall be considered in the restoration measures under these two paragraphs. This resembles the Habitats Directive's Articles 3(3) and 10 with an encouragement to look outside the covered areas. Similarly to the Articles in the Habitats Directive, the wording of Article 4(10) with 'shall consider' does not create a strong obligation for the Member States to take measures outside the areas covered by the Annex I habitats. There is no obligation to establish connectivity. An evertheless, this provision addresses the weakness of the Habitats Directive significantly, 'as the provision is formulated as a binding requirement' and therefore while the Member States are not obliged to establish connectivity, the need for it must be considered. Article 12(3)(d) of the Regulation furthers the obligations outside Natura 2000, as it lists forest connectivity as one of the forest ecosystem indicators. However, achieving the connectivity depends on the Member States whether they choose forest connectivity as an indicator for their forest ecosystems. Although the Nature Restoration Regulation creates

⁻

²⁴⁰ Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: Criteria and guidance for protected areas designation' SWD (2022) 23 final, 10.

²⁴¹ Hoek (n 123) 330.

²⁴² ibid.

²⁴³ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 12(3).

an opportunity to look beyond the Natura 2000 network through the connectivity of habitats, it is left to the Member States' discretion to consider this.

The provision addressing the lack of direct obligations outside the Natura 2000 network in the Habitats Directive the most is Article 12(1) of the Nature Restoration Regulation. As the priority on Natura 2000 sites in Article 4(1) of the Regulation is only applicable to the measures under Article 4(1), Article 12(1) of the Nature Restoration Regulation focuses on a wider area. Article 12(1) of the Regulation establishes that 'Member States shall put in place the restoration measures [...] in addition to the areas that are subject to restoration measures pursuant to Article 4(1), (4) and (7)'. Especially as Article 4(1) prioritises Natura 2000 sites until 2030, the measures under Article 12(1) expand the covered area. With Article 4(4) of the Nature Restoration Regulation focusing on the re-establishment of Annex I habitats and Article 4(7) on the habitats of species from Annexes II, IV and V of the Habitats Directive, the coverage of Article 12(1) could prove to be significant. Article 12(1) indicates a move away from the Natura 2000 sites of the Habitats Directive as well as from the Annex-based system, which will be discussed next.

4.2.2 A mixed approach to the Annex-based system

The second weakness of the current EU legal system discussed in Chapter 3 is the Annexbased system of the Habitats Directive, which creates limitations together with Article 3(2) of the Directive on what is covered under the protection of the Habitats Directive. The Nature Restoration Regulation takes a mixed approach to this Annex-based system.

The Nature Restoration Regulation follows the Annex I of the Habitats Directive. 244 The targets of Articles 4(1) and 4(4) concern the habitat types of Annex I.²⁴⁵ Thus, the Annexbased system of the Habitats Directive lingers on in the general obligations of the Nature Restoration Regulation. As there are no amendments to the Annex, the list of habitat types in

²⁴⁴ ibid, Annex I.

the Annex does not address the limitations and the weaknesses of what is covered by the Annex-based system.

As with Article 3(2) of the Habitats Directive, which limits the protection measures under the Directive only to a proportion of Annex I habitat types in the Member States' territory, the restoration measures of Article 4(1) of the Nature Restoration Regulation also concern only a proportion of Annex I habitats. The measures are to be taken on areas where the habitat types are not in good condition and additionally only on a percentage of these areas. ²⁴⁶ For example, by 2030 the percentage is to be 'at least 30% of the total area of all habitat types listed in Annex I that is not in good condition'. ²⁴⁷ By 2040 the area is to be at least 60% and by 2050 at least 90%. ²⁴⁸ Thus, these targets continue to cover only a proportion of the habitat types.

In the Habitats Directive, a consequence of the Annex-based system is that it does not explicitly include primary and old-growth forests in the protection. Again, for this weakness, Article 12 of the Nature Restoration Regulation gives relief by moving away from the Annex-based system. The Article applies 'in addition to the areas' subject to Article 4(1), (4), and (7) measures, therefore meaning in addition to forest habitats listed in Annex I.²⁴⁹ This would allow for an opportunity to include primary and old-growth forests in the restoration measures under Article 12. Yet, the opportunity to include these forests is left to the Member States' discretion through the choice of what they consider as necessary measures to meet the Article 12 obligations within their national restoration plans under Article 14 of the Regulation.

The only explicit mentions of old-growth forests in the Nature Restoration Regulation are in the preamble and Annex VII of the Regulation. The preamble only mentions primary and old-growth forests in the context of the commitments under the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030.²⁵⁰ The mention in the Annex is related to the national restoration plans.²⁵¹ As was explained earlier, Member States need to prepare a national restoration plan for the restoration targets

²⁴⁶ ibid, Art 4(1).

²⁴⁷ ibid, Art 4(1)(a).

²⁴⁸ ibid, Art 4(1)(b).

²⁴⁹ ibid, Art 12(1).

²⁵⁰ ibid, preamble 10.

²⁵¹ ibid, Art 14(16), Annex VII.

and obligations of the Regulation.²⁵² During the preparation of their national restoration plans, Member States can use 'the different examples of restoration measures listed in Annex VII'.²⁵³ Section 15 of Annex VII of the Regulation lists enhancing the development of oldgrowth forests as an example of restoration measures that can be considered under Article 14(16). This could be done for example by abandoning harvesting or enhancing the forests through active management.²⁵⁴ The use of these measures is left largely to Member State discretion, as Article 14(16)(a) states that Member States 'may make use' of the Annex VII examples. This wording does not make the examples given in Annex VII mandatory. Therefore, the Nature Restoration Regulation does not provide explicit measures for primary and old-growth forests either. Thus, this is a continuing weakness, as there is a need to also restore primary and old-growth forests.²⁵⁵

In conclusion, while the Annex-based system of the Habitats Directive remains in the Nature Restoration Regulation, Article 12 of the Regulation does move away from the system. However, the possibility to include measures for primary and old-growth forests, which the Annex-based system leaves out, is left at the discretion of Member States. The next section will analyse how the Nature Restoration Regulation addresses the final identified weakness of the current EU legislation.

4.2.3 Deadlines for the objectives

As was established in Chapter 3, the Habitats Directive does not set deadlines for the achievement of its objectives, such as the maintenance and restoration of the favourable conservation status. When compared to the other weaknesses of the current EU legal system identified in this thesis, the Nature Restoration Regulation addresses this weakness the most. One of the objectives of the Nature Restoration Regulation is to help recover biodiverse ecosystems 'through the restoration of degraded ecosystems'. Already in Article 1(2), the Union target of covering 20% of the land with restoration measures by 2030 is set out. Article

²⁵² ibid, Art 14(1).

²⁵³ ibid, Art 14(16).

²⁵⁴ ibid, Annex VII s 15.

²⁵⁵ Watson and others (n 8) 606.

²⁵⁶ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 1(1)(a).

4 takes the setting of deadlines further by including the years 2040 and 2050 as target years in addition to 2030. In comparison to the Habitats Directive, there are clear timelines and targets in the Regulation for its objectives.

Additionally, the inclusion of the national restoration plans strengthens these targets and deadlines. The plans need to include intermediate deadlines which correspond to the deadlines of the targets and obligations of the Regulation.²⁵⁷ The Commission has the power to consider Member State progress towards the targets and obligations and to request 'a revised draft national restoration plan with supplementary measures' from the Member State in case of insufficient progress.²⁵⁸ Together with these Commission powers and the setting of deadlines, the Nature Restoration Regulation is better placed to achieve its objectives than the Habitats Directive is.

The adoption of deadlines in the Regulation may further create an incentive for Member States to put restoration measures in place, which according to Hoek lacks in the Habitats Directive. ²⁵⁹ Indeed, Hoek has argued that 'through the adoption of deadlines within the Regulation, a gap within the Habitats Directive has been resolved'. ²⁶⁰ However, the deadlines and targets set out in the Nature Restoration Regulation concern only the years by which the restoration measures are to be taken on a specific area percentage, not on when the good condition is to be reached. ²⁶¹ Thus a small gap remains in the Nature Restoration Regulation.

Despite the Regulation adding deadlines and thus creating a timeline for the targets, the issue of accountability which is present in the Habitats Directive, remains in the Nature Restoration Regulation. The national restoration plans under the Regulation are to be reviewed by the Member States every ten years after 2032. ²⁶² If monitoring finds that the measures in the national restoration plans are insufficient to meet the targets and fulfil the obligations of the Regulation, Member States are to revise the plan and 'include supplementary measures'

²⁵⁷ ibid, Art 15(1).

²⁵⁸ ibid, Art 19(3).

²⁵⁹ See Ch 3.3.

²⁶⁰ Hoek (n 123) 328.

²⁶¹ Nature Restoration Regulation (n 29) Art 4(1); Bente J de Leeuw and Chris W Backes, 'The Non-Deterioration Obligation in the Nature Restoration Regulation – a Necessary and Proportionate Addition to the Habitats Directive or a Monstrosity with Disastrous Consequences for Society?' (2024) 21 Journal for European Environmental & Planning Law 22, 30.

²⁶² Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 19(1).

where necessary.²⁶³ The Commission can additionally request 'a revised draft national restoration plan with supplementary measures' from the Member State, after consultation with the State, if the progress towards the targets and obligations is deemed insufficient by the Commission.²⁶⁴ The Member States are additionally obliged to monitor for example the condition and quality of the habitat types under restoration and the forest biodiversity indicators of Article 12(2).²⁶⁵ There are also reporting obligations every three or six years depending on the information.²⁶⁶ However, there are no infringement proceedings for insufficient progress in the Regulation other than taking supplementary measures. Although the Nature Restoration Regulation establishes deadlines and is therefore in a better position to achieve its targets and objectives, a small gap remains in how the Regulation addresses this weakness of the current legislation.

4.3 Addressing weaknesses

In summary, the proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation addresses the weaknesses of the current EU legislation protecting forest biodiversity by setting out obligations to restore ecosystems both within and outside the Natura 2000 sites and through the creation of target deadlines. The Regulation sets out an intention in its preamble to increase measures outside the areas covered by the Habitats Directive to enhance forest biodiversity. Even though Article 4(1) of the Regulation prioritises Natura 2000 sites until the year 2030, the restoration measures taken after 2030 should expand beyond the Natura 2000 network. Additionally, other provisions such as Article 4(10) concerning the connectivity between Annex I habitat types and Article 12(1), which expands the restoration measures to forest ecosystems in addition to areas under Article 4, could lead to the expansion beyond the covered areas and outside the Natura 2000 network.

As for the Annex-based system, while Article 12(1) does move away from it, the general obligations of the Regulation under Article 4 refer to the Annexes. With the proportional

43

²⁶³ ibid, Art 19(2).

²⁶⁴ ibid, Art 19(3).

²⁶⁵ ibid, Art 20(1).

²⁶⁶ ibid, Art 21.

targets, the Nature Restoration Regulation continued to limit the coverage of habitat types under the measures. Including primary and old-growth forests in the restoration measures is left to the Member States' discretion. Finally, setting out target deadlines does address the lack of them in the Habitats Directive. However, these are only deadlines for the measures of area coverage and not for the condition of the areas. The next Chapter will further evaluate the added value of the Nature Restoration Regulation to the current EU legislation.

5 Evaluation

To answer the fourth research question, this Chapter will evaluate the Nature Restoration Regulation with the Habitats Directive on how the Regulation would add value to the current EU legislation protecting forest biodiversity. The ways the Regulation would add value are evaluated based on the previous analysis. Thus, the answers to the earlier research questions are essential for the evaluation.

5.1 Turning the focus to restoration

Within academics, there seems to be a consensus that restoration is a needed measure to protect biodiversity better in the future. ²⁶⁷ The international and EU commitments also call for restoration. ²⁶⁸ Although the Habitats Directive includes restoration in Article 2(2) as its objective, it has no specific obligations on restoration. The lack of restoration obligations can be seen in practice from a study by the European Commission which found that 'biodiversity restoration activities were rarely employed by forest managers'. ²⁶⁹ Thus, the obligations of the Nature Restoration Regulation on restoration would be a welcomed addition to the EU legislation if the Regulation enters into force.

Clear obligations on Member States to take restoration measures are present in the Nature Restoration Regulation.²⁷⁰ As was described in the previous Chapter, the Nature Restoration Regulation sets out general obligations for restoration measures under Article 4 which concern terrestrial, coastal and freshwater ecosystems. The Regulation further includes obligations for restoration measures of specific ecosystems, forests being one of these under Article 12. These obligations correct the Habitat Directive's weakness of not having specific obligations on restoration. Therefore, the Regulation turns the EU to focus more on the

²⁶⁷ See An Cliquet and Kris Decleer, 'Halting and restoring species loss: incorporating the concepts of extinction debt, ecological trap and dark diversity into conservation and restoration law' (2017) 26 Griffith Law Review 178, 178; Sabatini and others (n 135) 1648; Hoek (n 123) 321.

²⁶⁸ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 14; Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework (n 11) Annex.

²⁶⁹ Commission and Directorate-General for Environment, *Study on Implementing Sustainable Forest Management According to the EU Biodiversity Strategy and the EU Bioeconomy Strategy – Final report* (Publications Office of the European Union 2018) 9.

²⁷⁰ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Arts 4, 12.

needed restoration by creating obligations on Member States and thus adding value to the current legal system by helping to protect forest biodiversity through restoration.

5.2 Going beyond the protected areas

Merely relying on protected areas to protect and conserve biodiversity is not enough.²⁷¹ There is a need for measures also outside these protected areas.²⁷² This has been a weakness in the Habitats Directive. One way the Habitats Directive protects forest biodiversity is through the conservation measures for special areas of conservation.²⁷³ The weakness arises from the weak obligations to restore and protect habitat types outside the Natura 2000 sites. Articles 3(3) and 10 of the Habitats Directive are vague in setting obligations to manage biodiversity outside the network, and there are no concrete obligations to restore ecosystems. Although the species protection provisions in the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive provide indirect protection for forests and go beyond the Natura 2000 network, this is not enough.

'The Habitats Directive has not been able to expand the protected zones in line with the' commitment of protecting 30% of the EU's land by 2030.'²⁷⁴ The Natura 2000 sites cover 18.6% of the EU's land.²⁷⁵ Even when including other protected areas, 25.7% of the EU land is covered, which falls short of the 30% coverage.²⁷⁶ However, the Nature Restoration Regulation may not resolve this either as the proposal aims to cover at least 20% of the EU's land area by 2030.²⁷⁷ In comparison to the EU's 2030 commitment to legally protect at least 30% of the land, the 20% coverage falls short.²⁷⁸ In terms of restoration, the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 commits to restoring 'significant areas of degraded and carbon-rich

²⁷¹ FAO and UNEP (n 3) 108.

²⁷² ibid.

²⁷³ The Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 6(1).

²⁷⁴ Hoek (n 123) 328.

²⁷⁵ European Environment Agency, 'Natura 2000 sites designated under the EU Habitats and Birds Directives' (*EEA*, 22 November 2022) https://www.eea.europa.eu/en/analysis/indicators/natura-2000-sites-designated-under?activeAccordion=ecdb3bcf-bbe9-4978-b5cf-0b136399d9f8 accessed 29 April 2024.

²⁷⁶ 'Coverage & representativity' (*Biodiversity Information System for Europe*) https://biodiversity.europa.eu/europes-biodiversity/protected-areas/coverage-representativity accessed 29 April 2024.

²⁷⁷ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 1(2); Hoek (n 123) 328.

²⁷⁸ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 5.

ecosystems' by 2030.²⁷⁹ Considering the Regulation's target in view of this commitment, it seems appropriate. However, in the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework, the EU is under the goal of 30% restored ecosystems by 2030.²⁸⁰ In light of this, the Union target in the Nature Restoration Regulation is not sufficient.

According to the Commission, restored areas can 'contribute towards the EU targets on protected areas' where they 'comply (or are expected to comply once restoration produces its full effect) with the criteria for protected areas'.²⁸¹ For special areas of conservation, the criteria for their selection are set out in Annex III of the Habitats Directive.²⁸² The Nature Restoration Regulation refers to the Commission's statement in its preamble.²⁸³ This is important considering the EU Biodiversity Strategy's commitment to protect 30% by 2030. The commitment does not specify the Natura 2000 network but commits to legally protecting the land.²⁸⁴ Although Natura 2000 plays a significant part in the commitment, other protected areas 'under national protection schemes' are another way to meet the target.²⁸⁵ The Nature Restoration Regulation gives priority to measures under Article 4(1) within the Natura 2000 sites until 2030. However, an expansion beyond the Natura 2000 network is present in the Regulation, especially with the targets after 2030 and Article 12.²⁸⁶ Therefore, even if the Nature Restoration Regulation may not aid the EU in achieving 30% protection by 2030, the Regulation does expand its measures outside the protected areas of the Natura 2000 network.

Despite the priority on the Natura 2000 network lingering on in the Nature Restoration Regulation, the Regulation addresses the weakness of the Habitats Directive. The obligations are extended outside the Natura 2000 network. Whether through the Natura 2000 network or restoration measures resulting in other protected areas, the Habitats Directive and the Nature Restoration Regulation would continue the area-based measures for forest biodiversity protection in the EU. The achievement of the 2030 targets may still fall short, but the

²⁷⁹ ibid 14.

²⁸⁰ Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework (n 11) Annex, Section H, Target 2.

²⁸¹ Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: Criteria and guidance for protected areas designation' SWD (2022) 23 final, 10.

²⁸² The Habitats Directive (n 24) Annex III.

²⁸³ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) preamble 10.

²⁸⁴ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 5.

²⁸⁵ Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: Criteria and guidance for protected areas designation' SWD (2022) 23 final, 8.

²⁸⁶ See Ch 4.2.1.

Regulation would add value to the current legal system by including areas outside the network in its obligations.

5.3 Primary and old-growth forests do not gain value

As was discovered in Chapter 3, the Annex-based system of the Habitats Directive does not specifically include primary and old-growth forests in the legal protection. This is the case also in the Nature Restoration Regulation. The Nature Restoration Regulation does not fully address the weaknesses arising from the Annex-based system of the Habitats Directive, especially without the explicit inclusion of primary and old-growth forests. Under Article 12 of the Nature Restoration Regulation, which expands the coverage of forests without the Annex-based system, primary and old-growth forests may be included by a Member State choice through the restoration measures. However, a weakness regarding the strict protection of these forests prevails. This is due to the other activities allowed within the concerned areas. The Habitats Directive does not prevent forestry in Natura 2000 sites as forestry can be allowed.²⁸⁷ The sole focus of the Natura 2000 site does not therefore need to be nature protection. 288 Under the Nature Restoration Regulation, in preparing the national restoration plans, 'Member States shall identify synergies with [...] forestry. They shall also identify existing [...] forestry practices, [...] that contribute to the objectives of this Regulation'. ²⁸⁹ This can be interpreted as that forestry should work together with the restoration measures. Strict protection means that the natural processes of the area are not disturbed.²⁹⁰ Thus, the Habitats Directive and the Nature Restoration Regulation are both contrary to strict protection. Neither of the two legislative instruments would directly aid in the achievement of the EU's strict protection target.

Nevertheless, there is a move away from the Annex-based system in Article 12 of the Nature Restoration Regulation, which increases the flexibility of what may be covered under the restoration measures. Thus, there is a potential for extended forest biodiversity protection

²⁸⁷ See Ch 2.2.2.

²⁸⁸ Commission, *Natura 2000 and Forests Part I-II* (Office for Official Publications of the European Communities 2015) 58.

²⁸⁹ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 14(10).

²⁹⁰ EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030 (n 20) 4.

through restoration if the measures cover a wider selection of forest habitats than under the Habitats Directive. However, with Article 3(2) of the Habitats Directive providing for the Member States to contribute in proportion to the Natura 2000 network and Article 4(1) targets of the Nature Restoration Regulation concerning only a proportion of the areas, the coverage of the measures is limited. The added value of the Regulation to the current legal system from this perspective is thus slight, but the flexibility of Article 12 of the Regulation adds value to the current EU legislation.

5.4 Deadlines could aid the Habitats Directive

The 2020 targets for biodiversity in the EU were not achieved.²⁹¹ Already before the deadline of 2020, it was held that the Habitats and Birds Directives would not allow for the achievement of the targets alone.²⁹² With the 2030 targets quickly approaching, the need for reform in the EU legal system possibly through the Nature Restoration Regulation is called into question.

The Nature Restoration Regulation sets targets on when and where the restoration measures are to be taken by the Member States.²⁹³ This addresses the Habitats Directive's weakness of not having deadlines and creates a timeline for the measures under the Regulation. Furthermore, these deadlines in the Nature Restoration Regulation may aid in achieving the Habitats Directive's objectives.²⁹⁴ According to the preamble of the Nature Restoration Regulation, especially taking measures outside Natura 2000 sites and establishing deadlines for restoration measures is to benefit the objectives of the Habitats Directive.²⁹⁵

The Habitats Directive and the Nature Restoration Regulation are planned to work in synergy.²⁹⁶ This can further benefit the objectives of the Habitats Directive. The territory in

²⁹¹ European Environment Agency, *State of nature in the EU: Results from reporting under the nature directives 2013-2018* (Publications Office of the European Union 2020) 128, 135.

²⁹² Charles-Hubert Born, An Cliquet and Hendrik Schoukens, 'Introduction' in Charles-Hubert Born and others (eds), *The Habitats Directive in its EU Environmental Law Context: European Nature's Best Hope?* (Routledge 2015) 5.

²⁹³ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Arts 4, 12.

²⁹⁴ ibid, preamble 26, 28.

²⁹⁵ ibid.

²⁹⁶ ibid, preamble 66.

which the Nature Restoration Regulation is applicable aligns with the geographical scope of the Habitats Directive.²⁹⁷ An example of the synergy is Article 14(14)(a) of the Nature Restoration Regulation, which requires the Member States to take into account the Natura 2000 conservation measures under the Habitats Directive in the national restoration plan preparation. Furthermore, Member States are to coordinate the monitoring of Annex I areas under the Regulation with the reporting cycle of Article 17 of the Habitats Directive.²⁹⁸ The use of the Habitats Directive's Annex I in the Regulation as well as references to the Habitats Directive's definitions in Article 3 of the Nature Restoration Regulation additionally shows that the two instruments complement each other and are designed to apply in parallel.

In conclusion, the deadlines in the Nature Restoration Regulation address the absence of them in the Habitats Directive and could aid in the achievement of the Habitats Directive's objectives. However, having deadlines does not guarantee the achievement of the objectives and targets. There is a lack of accountability in the case of a failure to meet the targets in both instruments, where the Member States are trusted to work towards reversing biodiversity loss in forests without infringement proceedings for a failure to meet the objectives. Therefore, while the Nature Restoration Regulation adds value to the current EU legislation by the creation of deadlines, it does not add accountability to the achievement of objectives.

5.5 Added value to forest biodiversity protection

The Nature Restoration Regulation adds value to the current EU legislation protecting forest biodiversity in multiple ways. To answer the fourth research question, the Regulation adds value by creating obligations to restore, widening the scope of measures and obligations outside the Natura 2000 network, partly moving away from the Annex-based system, and creating deadlines for the targets. The focus of the legal system on both restoration and conservation would provide comprehensive protection for forest biodiversity if the measures were successful in the future.

²⁹⁷ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) preamble 24; the Habitats Directive (n 24) Art 2(1). ²⁹⁸ Nature Restoration Regulation 2024 (n 29) Art 20(6).

However, even together the Habitats Directive and the Nature Restoration Regulation seem to fall short of the 30% protection of land by 2030. There are no provisions for strict protection of primary and old-growth forests. Furthermore, while the Regulation and the Directive can act in parallel by complementing each other's targets and objectives, they do not meet the EU's 2030 commitments of 30% protection and strict protection. As for the 2050 commitments, while the targets of the Nature Restoration Regulation meet the international targets, the extent of protection would remain to be seen depending on the success of the measures. The lack of accountability is another aspect in which the Nature Restoration Regulation does not add value to the legal system. Member States are trusted to take sufficient measures and progress under the targets and objectives. Nevertheless, it can be stated that the added value of the Nature Restoration Regulation would make it a significant addition to the current EU legal system protecting forest biodiversity. The next Chapter will conclude and summarise the findings of this thesis.

6 Conclusion

Forest biodiversity is under threat from multiple sources. The current EU legal system has not been able to meet the biodiversity targets in the EU or on an international level. There is a threat that the current legislation is insufficient for forest biodiversity protection through its weaknesses. Thus, the EU legal system is challenged to get back on track in order to meet its commitments and to protect forest biodiversity better. The proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation could aid in this by addressing the weaknesses of the current EU legal system protecting forest biodiversity.

The Natura 2000 network is currently at the centre of biodiversity protection in the EU legal system. Forests are protected through a direct method of area-based measures with special areas of conservation under the Habitats Directive. On the other hand, the Nature Directives; the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive create an indirect method of protecting forests through species protection. Although it is the Directive designed for forest protection, the Habitats Directive includes weaknesses, three of which were identified and analysed in this thesis. These are the lack of obligations for forest protection and restoration outside the Natura 2000 network, the Annex-based system, not including primary and old-growth forests, and the absence of deadlines to achieve the objectives of the Habitats Directive.

The proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation is a new development in the EU legal system aimed at halting biodiversity loss and aiding in the achievement of the EU's commitments. At the time of writing, the Regulation is still waiting for approval of the European Council before it can enter into force. The focus of the Regulation is on the restoration of degraded ecosystems.

The Nature Restoration Regulation addresses the three weaknesses of the Habitats Directive in different ways. The restoration measures established by the Regulation follow area-based measures. The general obligations of Article 4(1) prioritise measures within the Natura 2000 sites until 2030. Beyond this, and with the more specific restoration obligations on forest ecosystems there is a move away from the Natura 2000 sites. The Annex-based system remains present in the general obligations of the Regulation but is excluded from Article 12 on forest restoration. While primary and old-growth forests are not explicitly covered in the

Nature Restoration Regulation either, the flexibility given by Article 12 which does not use the Annex-based system of the Habitats Directive enables the Member States to include these forests within the provision. However, the proportional approach to measures, which is present in Article 3(2) of the Habitats Directive continues in the targets of the Regulation in Article 4(1) which cover only a proportion of the areas. Thus, there is still a limitation to the coverage of the measures. As for achieving its objectives, the Nature Restoration Regulation takes a different approach to the Habitats Directive by setting out target deadlines for when measures are to be taken. This, however, leaves a small gap in the Regulation's response to the weakness, as the Nature Restoration Regulation does not set deadlines for achieving a certain condition on the restoration areas.

Together the Habitats Directive and the Nature Restoration Regulation would cover forest biodiversity protection on a wider scope than the Habitats Directive alone. With a focus on restoration, obligations expanding beyond the Natura 2000 network, a slight move away from the Annex-based system, and the target deadlines, the Nature Restoration Regulation would address the weaknesses of the Habitats Directive. Therefore, the added value provided to the current EU legislation by the Nature Restoration Regulation would be significant.

Further research on the Nature Restoration Regulation will be needed whether or not the Regulation enters into force. If the Council does not adopt the Regulation, research on how the weaknesses of the Habitats Directive can be remedied to aid in the achievement of the EU and international biodiversity targets is needed.

The past failures to meet the EU and international biodiversity targets show that urgent action to halt biodiversity loss is needed. With forests being at the heart of biodiversity and degrading rapidly, better measures to conserve and restore them are needed. While the proposal on the Nature Restoration Regulation may not enable the EU to meet the 2030 commitments on biodiversity, it addresses the weaknesses of the Habitats Directive. If the Council fails to adopt the proposal into legislation, the EU legal system is threatened to become insufficient for forest biodiversity protection.

Bibliography

Legislation

International

Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties 1969, 23 May 1969, 1155 UNTS 331 (entered into force 27 January 1980)

Convention on Biological Diversity, 5 June 1992, 1760 UNTS 79 (entered into force 29 December 1993)

European Union

Consolidated version of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU) [2016] OJ C202/47

Regulation (EU) 2018/841 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 on the inclusion of greenhouse gas emissions and removals from land use, land use change and forestry in the 2030 climate and energy framework, and amending Regulation (EU) No 525/2013 and Decision No 529/2013/EU [2018] OJ L156/1

Regulation (EU) 2023/1115 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 31 May 2023 on the making available on the Union market and the export from the Union of certain commodities and products associated with deforestation and forest degradation and repealing Regulation (EU) No 995/2010 [2023] OJ L150/206

Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (the Habitats Directive) [1992] OJ L206/7

Codified version of the Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November 2009 on the conservation of wild birds (the Birds Directive) [2019] OJ L20/7

Case law

Case 412/85 *Commission v Germany* [1987] ECR 03503

Case C-371/98 The Queen v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and the Regions, ex parte First Corporate Shipping Ltd (First Corporate Shipping) [2000] ECR I-09235

Case C-127/02 Waddenvereniging and Vogelsbeschermingvereniging (Waddenzee) [2004] ECR I-07405

Case C- 418/04 Commission v Ireland [2007] ECR I-10947

Case C-182/10 Solvay and Others [2012] OJ C179/18

Case C-441/17 European Commission v Republic of Poland (Białowieża) [2018] OJ C200/20

Case C-473/19 Föreningen Skydda Skogen v Länsstyrelsen i Västra Götlands län (Skydda Skogen) [2021] OJ C163/6

Literature

Books

Born C-H, Cliquet A and Schoukens H, 'Introduction' in Born C-H and others (eds), *The Habitats Directive in its EU Environmental Law Context: European Nature's Best Hope?* (Routledge 2015)

Cliquet A, 'EU Nature Conservation Law: Fit for Purpose' in Peeters M and Eliantonio M (eds), *Research Handbook on EU Environmental Law* (Edward Elgar 2020)

Janssen J A M and others, *European Red List of Habitats*. *Part 2. Terrestrial and freshwater habitats* (Publications Office of the European Union 2016)

Stahl L, 'The concept of 'conservation objectives' in the Habitats Directive: a need for a better definition' in Born C-H and others (eds), *The Habitats Directive in its EU Environmental Law Context: European Nature's Best Hope?* (Routledge 2015)

van Hoorik G, 'Biodiversity outside protected areas: An outlaw waiting to be saved?' in Born C-H and others (eds), *The Habitats Directive in its EU Environmental Law Context:*European Nature's Best Hope? (Routledge 2015)

Journals

Cliquet A and Decleer K, 'Halting and restoring species loss: incorporating the concepts of extinction debt, ecological trap and dark diversity into conservation and restoration law' (2017) 26 Griffith Law Review 178

de Leeuw B J and Backes C W, 'The Non-Deterioration Obligation in the Nature Restoration Regulation – a Necessary and Proportionate Addition to the Habitats Directive or a Monstrosity with Disastrous Consequences for Society?' (2024) 21 Journal for European Environmental & Planning Law 22

Hering D and others, 'Securing success for the Nature Restoration Law' (2023) 382 Science 1248

Hoek N, 'A Critical Analysis of the Proposed EU Regulation on Nature Restoration: Have the Problems Been Resolved?' [2022] European Energy and Environmental Law Review 320

Kokko K, 'Ennallistaminen ympäristöoikeuden sektoreilla – luonnonsuojelu' (2023) 4 Ympäristöjuridiikka 47

Pappila M and Soininen N, 'Ennallistaminen oikeudellisena velvoitteena – luontokadon hillinnän valloittamaton rintama Suomen ympäristöoikeudessa' (2023) 4 Ympäristöjuridiikka 23

Sabatini F M and others, 'Protection gaps and restoration opportunities for primary forests in Europe' (2020) 26 Diversity and Distributions 1646

Schouken H, 'Non-Regression Clauses in Times of Ecological Restoration Law: Article 6(2) of the EU Habitats Directive as an unusual ally to restore Natura 2000?' (2017) 13 Utrecht Law Review 124

Squintani L, 'The Development of Ecological Corridors: Member States' Obligation under the Habitats and Birds Directives?' (2012) 9.2 Journal for European Environmental & Planning Law 180

Stubenrauch J and Garske B, 'Forest protection in the EU's renewable energy directive and nature conservation legislation in light of the climate and biodiversity crisis – Identifying legal shortcomings and solutions' (2023) 153 Forest Policy and Economics 1

Watson J E M and others, 'The exceptional value of intact forest ecosystems' (2018) 2 Nature Ecology & Evolution 599

Reports

Commission, *Natura 2000 and Forests Part I-II* (Office for Official Publications of the European Communities 2015)

Commission and Directorate-General for Environment, *Study on Implementing Sustainable*Forest Management According to the EU Biodiversity Strategy and the EU Bioeconomy

Strategy – Final report (Publications Office of the European Union 2018)

Commission, Managing Natura 2000 sites: The provisions of Article 6 of the 'Habitats' Directive 92/43/EEC (Publications Office of the European Union 2019)

Commission, 'Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council and the European Economic and Social Committee: The state of nature in the European Union, Report on the status and trends in 2013 – 2018 of species and habitat types protected by the Birds and Habitats Directives' COM (2020) 635 final

Commission and others, *Mapping and assessment of primary and old-growth forests in Europe* (Publications Office of the European Union 2021)

Díaz S and others (eds), Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES 2019)

European Environment Agency, *The European environment – state and outlook 2020: Knowledge for transition to a sustainable Europe* (Publications Office of the European Union 2019)

European Environment Agency, *State of nature in the EU: Results from reporting under the nature directives 2013-2018* (Publications Office of the European Union 2020)

Eurostat, *Agriculture, forestry and fishery statistics: 2020 edition* (Publication Office of the European Union 2020)

FAO and UNEP, The State of the World's Forests 2020. Forests, biodiversity and people (FAO 2020)

Maes J and others, *Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystems and their Services: An EU ecosystem assessment* (Publications Office of the European Union 2020)

Muys B and others, Forest Biodiversity in Europe. From Science to Policy 13 (European Forest Institute 2022)

Official sources

International

COP CBD, 'Decision Adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity at its tenth meeting. X/2. The Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and the Aichi Biodiversity Targets' Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity, 29 October 2010 UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/X/2

COP CBD, 'Decision adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity 15/4. Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework' (Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework) DEC 15/4 (2022)

United Nations General Assembly, 'Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 25 September 2015. Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development' United Nations General Assembly, 25 September 2015 A/RES/70/1

United Nations General Assembly, 'Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 1 March 2019. United Nations Decade on Ecosystem Restoration (2021-2030)' United Nations General Assembly, 6 March 2019 A/RES/73/284

EU

Commission, 'Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Our life insurance, our natural capital: an EU biodiversity strategy to 2020' (EU Biodiversity Strategy 2020) COM (2011) 244 final

Commission, 'Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030, Bringing nature back into our lives' (EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030) COM (2020) 380 final

Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: Delivering on the UN's Sustainable Development Goals – A comprehensive approach' SWD (2020) 400 final

Commission, 'Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: New EU Forest Strategy for 2030' (EU Forest Strategy 2030) COM (2021) 572 final

Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: The 3 Billion Tree Planting Pledge For 2030, Accompanying the document Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: New EU Forest Strategy for 2030' SWD (2021) 651 final

Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: Criteria and guidance for protected areas designation' SWD (2022) 23 final

Commission, 'Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on nature restoration' COM (2022) 304 final

Commission, 'Commission Staff Working Document: Commission Guidelines for Defining, Mapping, Monitoring and Strictly Protecting EU Primary and Old-Growth Forests' SWD (2023) 62 final

European Parliament, 'Amendments adopted by the European Parliament on 12 July 2023 on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on nature restoration COM (2022) 304' Parliament (2023) 277

European Parliament, 'Nature Restoration: European Parliament legislative resolution of 27 February 2024 on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on nature restoration' (Nature Restoration Regulation 2024) Parliament (2024) 89

Websites

European Environment Agency, 'Natura 2000 sites designated under the EU Habitats and Birds Directives' (*EEA*, 22 November 2022)

https://www.eea.europa.eu/en/analysis/indicators/natura-2000-sites-designated-under?activeAccordion=ecdb3bcf-bbe9-4978-b5cf-0b136399d9f8 accessed 29 April 2024

European Parliament, 'Procedure File 2022/0195(COD)' (Legislative Observatory: European Parliament)

https://oeil.secure.europarl.europa.eu/oeil/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2022/0195 COD)&l=en> accessed 24 May 2024

Milicevic V, 'The European Union and forests' (*Fact Sheets on the European Union*, European Parliament 2023) https://www.europarl.europa.eu/factsheets/en/sheet/105/the-european-union-and-forests accessed 22 May 2024

Oxford English Dictionary, 'protection' (OUP)

https://www.oed.com/dictionary/protection_n accessed 29 April 2024

'Coverage & representativity' (Biodiversity Information System for Europe)

https://biodiversity.europa.eu/europes-biodiversity/protected-areas/coverage-representativity accessed 29 April 2024

'Intergovernmental and Other Organizations' (United Nations)

https://www.un.org/en/about-us/intergovernmental-and-other-organizations accessed 22 May 2024

'List of Parties' (Convention on Biological Diversity)

https://www.cbd.int/information/parties.shtml accessed 8 February 2024

